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THE GREAT ENGINE

THE blue-gray engine lay half buried in a green hillside. It
lay there in that summer of 1948, a soulless thing of metal and
of forces more potent than life itself. Rain washed its senseless
form. A July then an August sun blazed down upon it. In the
night the stars looked down wanly, caring nothing for its destiny.
The ship it drove had been nosing down into Earth’s atmos-
phere when the meteorite plowed through the metal that held
it in place. Instantly, in the irresistibleness of its terrible
strength, the engine tore to shreds what remained of the frame-
work and plunged through the gaping meteorite hole, down,
down.

For all the weeks since then it had lain in the hillside seem-
ingly lifeless but, actually, in its great fashion, alive. There was
dirt in its force field, so tightly packed that it would have taken
eagle eyes to see how swiftly it was spinning. Not even the boys
who sat one day on a flange of the engine noticed the convul-
sions of the dirt, If one of them had poked a grimy hand into
the inferno of emergy that was the force field, muscles, bones,
blood would have spurted like gas exploding.

But the boys went away; and the engine was still there on the
day the searchers passed along the bottom of the hill. Discovery
was as close as that. There were two of them, two alert, trained
observers who anxiously scanned the hillside. But a cloud was
veiling the brighmess of the sun, and they passed on unsecing.

It was more than a week later, late in the afternoon, when a
horse climbing the hill straddled the protruding bulge of the
engine. The horse’s rider proceeded to dismount in an astound-
ing fashion. With his one hand he grasped the saddlehorn and
lifted himself clear of the saddle. Casually, easily, he brought
his left leg over, held himself poised in midair, and then dropped
to the ground. The display of strength secemed all the more
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effortless because the action was automatic. His attention was
concentrated the whole while on the thing in the ground.

His lean face twisted as he examined the machine. He glanced
around, eyes suddenly narrowed. Then he smiled sardonically
as he realized the thought in his mind. Finally, he shrugged.
There was little chance of anybody seeing him out here. The
town of Crescentville was more than a mile away; and there was
no sign of life around the big white house which stood among
the trees a third of a mile to the northwest.

He was alone with his horse and the machine, And, after a
moment, his voice echoed with cool irony on the twilight air,
“Well, Dandy, here’s a job for us. This scrap should buy you
quite a bit of feed. We’ll haul it to the junk dealer after dark.
That way she won't find out and we’ll save some remnant of our
pride.”

He stopped. Involuntarily, he turned to stare at the garden-
like estate whose width stretched for nearly a mile between him-
self and the town. A white fence, misty and halo-ish in the
twilight, made a vast circuit around a green, verdant land of
trees and pasture. The fence kept disappearing down gullies and
into brush. It vanished finally in the north beyond the stately
white house.

The man muttered impatiently, “What a fool I’ve been, hang-
ing around Crescentville waiting for her.” He cut the words with
a mental effort and turned to stare down at the engine. “Have
to get some idea of its weight,” he thought. “Wonder what it is.”

He climbed to the top of the hill and came down again carry-
ing a piece of deadwood about four feet long and three inches in
diameter. He began to pry the engine loose from the ground.
It was awkward work with only a left arm. And so, when he
noticed the dirt-plugged hole in the center, he jabbed the wood
into it to get better leverage.

His shout of surprise and pain echoed hoarsely on the evening
air,

For the wood jerked. Like a shot twisted by the rifled barrel
of a gun, like a churning knife, it wrenched in his hand, tearing
like a shredder, burning like fire, He was lifted up, up, and
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flung twenty feet down the hill. Groaning, clutching his tattered
hand to his body, he stumbled to his feet.

The sound died on his lips, then, as his gaze fastened on the
throbbing, whirling thing that had been a dead branch of tree.
He stared. Then he climbed, trembling, onto the black horse.
Nursing his bloodied hand, blinking from the agony, he raced
the animal down the hill and toward the highway that led to the
town.

A stone boat and harness for Dandy rented from a farmer,
rope and tackle, a hand stff with bandages, stll numb with
pain, a trek though darkness with a thrumming thing on the
stone boat—for three hours Pendrake felt himself a creature in
a nightmare.

But here was the engine now, on the floor of his stable, safe
from discovery except for the sound that was pouring forth
from the wood in its force field. It seemed odd now how his
mind had worked. The determination to transport the engine
secretly to his own cottage had been like choosing life instead of
death, like swiftly picking up a hundred-dollar bill lying on a
deserted street, so automatic as to be beyond the need of logic.
It still seemed as natural as living.

The yellow glow from the lantern filled the interior of what
had once been a large private garage and workshop. In one
corner Dandy stood, black hide aglint, eyes glistening, as he
turned his head to stare at the thing that shared his quarters.
The not unpleasant smell of horse was thick now that the door
was closed. The engine lay on its side near the door. And the
main trouble was that the wood in it wasn’t straight. It slogged
away against the air like some caricature of a propeller, beating
a sound out of the atmosphere by the sheer violence and velocity
of its rotation. '

Pendrake estimated its speed at about eight thousand revolu-
tions-a minute. He stood then, and strove to grasp the nature of
a machine that could snatch a piece of wood and spin it so
violently. His thought scattered before the mystery; and he
gave it up. But a frown creased his face as he stared down at the
speed-blurred wood. He couldn’t just grab it. And, while un-
doubtedly there were a number of tools in the world that could
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grip a whirling bar and pull on it, they were not available here
in this lantern-lighted stable.

He thought: “There must be a control, something to switch
off the power.”

But the bluish-gray, doughnut-shaped outer shell was glass
smooth. Even the flanges that projected from four ends, and in
which were the holes for bed bolts, seemed to grow out of the
shell, as if they had been molded from the same block of metal,
as if there had been a flowing, original design that spurned any-
thing less than oneness. Baffled, Pendrake walked around the
machine. It seemed to him that the problem was beyond the
solution of a man who had as his working equipment one badly
maimed and bandaged hand.

He noticed something. The machine lay solidly, heavily, on
the floor. It neither jogged nor jumped. It made not the slightest
effort to begin a sedate, reactionary creep in opposition to the
insanely whirling thing that bristled from its middle. The engine
was ignoring the law that action and reaction are equal and
opposite.

With abrupt realization of the possibilities, Pendrake bent
down and heaved at the metal shell. Instantly, knives of pain
hacked at his hand. Tears shocked into his eyes. But when he
finally let go, the engine was standing on one of its four sets of
flanges. And the crooked wood was spinning, no longer vert-
cally, but roughly horizontal to the floor.

The pulse of agony in Pendrake’s hand slowed. He wiped
tears from his eyes and proceeded to the next step in the plan that
had occurred to him. Nails! He drove them into the bed bolt
holes, and bent them over the metal. That was just to make sure
the narrow-based engine wouldn’t topple over in the event that he
bumped too hard against the outer shell.

An apple box came next. Laid lengthwise on its side, it reached
up to within half an inch of the exact center of the large hole,
from the opposite side of which the wood projected. Two books
held steady a piece of one-inch piping about a foot long. It was
painful holding the small sledge hammer in that lame hand of
his, but he struck. true, The piece of piping recoiled from the
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hammer, banged the wood where it was held inside the hole of
the engine, and knocked it out.

There was a crash that shook the garage. After a moment,
Pendrake grew aware of a long, plintered slash in the ceiling,
through which the four-foot piece of deadwood had bounced
after striking the floor. Slowly, his reverberating mind gravitated
into a rhythm with the silence that was settling. Pendrake drew a
deep breath. There were still things to discover, a whole new
machine world to explore. But one thing seemed clear:

He had conquered the engine,

At midnight he was still awake. He kept getting up, dropping
the magazine he was reading, and going into the dark kitchen of
the cottage to peer out at the darker garage. But the night was
quiet. No marauders disturbed the peace of the town. Occasion-
ally, a car motor sounded far away.

He began to realize the psychological danger when for the
dozenth time he found himself pressing his face against the cool
pane of the kitchen window. Pendrake cursed aloud and went
back into the living room, muttering invective. What was he
trying to do? He couldn’t hope to keep that engine. It must be
a new invention, a radical post-war development, lying on that
hillside because of an accident that a silly ass who never read
papers or listened to the radio wouldn’t know anything about.

Somewhere in the house, he remembered, was a New York
Times he’d bought not so long ago. He found the paper in his
magazine rack with all the other old and unread papers and
magazines he’d bought from time to time. The date at the top
was June 7, 1947; and this was August 16th. Not too great a
difference.

But this wasn’t 1947. This was 1948

With a cry, Pendrake leaped to his feet, then slowly sank
back into his chair. It was an ironic picture that came then, a
kaleidoscope of the existence of a man so untouched by the
friction of time that fourteen months had glided by like so many
days. Lazy, miserable hound, Pendrake thought in a blaze of
fury, using his lost arm and an unforgiving woman as an excuse
for lying down on life. That was over. All of it. He'd start
again—
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He grew aware of the paper in his hand. And all the anger
went out of him as in a gathering excitement he began to glance
at the headlines:

PRESIDENT CALLS ON NATION
- FOR NEW INDUSTRIAL EFFORT
Two Hundred Billion Dollar National
Income Only Beginning, He Says

350,000 FAMILY PLANES SOLD
FIRST FIVE MONTHS OF 1947

IS THERE LIFE ON OTHER PLANETS?
Expect 200 Inch Telescope to
Provide New Evidence—To Be

Completed Next Year.

Pendrake’s mind poised at that point, hard on the thought that
came. “It was impossible! An engine that merely turned an
axle in however wonderful a fashion wasn’t a spaceship drive
whatever else it might be.”

The situation was really simple. He had crept away into this
little cottage of his, almost right out of the world. Life had gone
on dynamically. And somewhere, not so long ago, a tremendous
invention had spawned out of that surging tide of will and
ambition and creative genius. Tomorrow, he would try to get a
mortgage on this cottage. That would provide him with a little
cash, and break forever the thrall of the place. Dandy he’d send
over to Eleanor in the same fashion that she had sent him three
years ago, without a word. The green pastures of the estate would
be like heaven for an animal that had starved too long now on an
ex-airman’s pension.

He must have slept at that point. Because he awoke at 3.00
a.m., sweating with fear. He was out in the night and clawing
open the door of the garage-stable before he realized that he had
had a bad dream. The engine was still there, the foot-long piece
of piping in its force field. In the beam of his flashlight the piping
glinted as it turned, shone with a brown glow that was hard to
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reconcile with the dirty, rusted, extruded metal thing he had
ransacked out of his basement.

It struck Pendrake after a moment, and for the first time, that
the pipe was turning far more slowly than had the piece of wood,
not a quarter so fast, not more than fourteen or fifteen hundred
revolutions per minute. The rate of rotation must be governed
by the kind of material, based on atomic weight, or density, or
something,

Uneasily, convinced that he mustn’t be seen abroad at this
hour, Pendrake shut the door and returned to the house. He
felt no anger at himself, or at the brief frenzy that sent him
racing into the night. But the implications were troubling,

It was going to be hard to give the engine up to its rightful
owner,

The following day he went first to the office of the local
newspaper. Forty issues of the weekly Crescentville Clarion
yielded exactly nothing. Pendrake read the first two news pages
of each edition, missing not a single heading. But there was no
report of an air crash, no mention of a great new engine inven-
tion. He went out, finally, into the hot August moming, a haze
of exhilaradon tingling along his nerves. It couldn’t be, it
couldn’t be. And yet, if this kept on, the engine was his,

The bank manager said, “A mortgage on the cottage. It isn’t
necessary. You have a large account here.”

“Eh?” Pendrake said.

It was the expression on the man’s smooth-jowled face, the
faint, secret smile that warned him. The manager, whose name
Pendrake remembered as Roderick Clay, said easily, “As you
know, when you went to China with the Army Air Force, you
signed all your possessions over to your wife, with the exception
of the cottage where you now live. And that, as I understand it,
was omitted accidentally.”

Pendrake nodded, not trusting himself to speak. He knew
now what was coming, and the manager’s words merely verified
his realization. The manager said, “At the end of the war, a few
months after you and your wife separated, she secretly reassigned
to you the entire property, including bonds, shares, cash, real
estate, as well as the Pendrake estate, with the stipulation that
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you not be advised of the transfer until you actually inquired,
or in some other fashion indicated your need for money. She
further stipulated that, in the interim, she be given the minimum
living allowance with which to provide for the maintenance of
herself and the Pendrake home.

“I may say”’—the man was bland, smug, satisfied with the way
he had carried off an interview that he must have planned in his
idle moments with anticipatory thrills— “your affairs have
prospered with those of the nation. Stocks, bonds, and cash on
hand total about two hundred and ninety-four thousand dollars.
Would you like me to have one of the clerks draw up a check for
your signature? How much?”

It was hotter outside. Pendrake walked back to the cottage,
thinking: He should have known Eleanor would pull something
like that. These passionate, introvert women—Sitting there
that day he had called, cold, remote, unable to break out of her
shell of reserve, Sitting there knowing she had placed herself
financially at his mercy. He’d have to think out the implications,
plan his approach, his exact words and actions. Meaawhile,
there was the engine.

It was still there. He glanced cursorily in at it, then padlocked
the door again. On the way to the kitchen entrance he patted
Dandy, who was staked out on the back lawn. Inside, he
searched, for, and found, the name of a Washington patent firm.
He’d gone to China with the son of a member. Awkwardly, he
wrote his letter. On his way to the post office to mail it, he
stopped off at the only machine shop in town and ordered a
wheel-like gripping device; a sort of clutch, the wheel part of
which would whirl with anything it grasped

The answer to his letter arrived two days later, before the
“clutch™ was completed. The letter said:

Dear Mr. Pendrake:

As per your request, we placed the available members of
our Research Department on your problem. All patent
office records of epgine inventions during the past three
years were examined. In addition, I had a personal con-
versation with the director in charge of that particular

14



department of the patent office. Accordingly, I am in a
position to state positively that no radical engine inventions
other than jet variatons have been patented in any field
since the war.

For your perusal, we are enclosing herewith copies of
ninety-seven recent engine patents, as selected by our staff
from thousands.

Our bill is being sent to you by separate mail. Thank you
for your advance check for two hundred dollars,

Sincerely yours,
N. V. Hoskins.

P.S.: I thought you were dead. I'll swear I saw your name
in a casualty list after I was rescued, and I've been mourning
you for three years. I'll write you a longer letter in a week
or so. I'm holding up the patent world right now, mot
physically—only the great Jim Pendrake could do that.
However, I'm playing the role of mental Atlas, and I sure
got a lot of dirty looks for rushing your stuff through. Which
explains the big bill. 'By for now.
Ned.

Pendrake was conscious of a choking sensation as he read and
reread the note, To think how he’d cut himself off from all his
friends. The phrase “—the great Jim Pendrake” made him
glance involuntarily at the empty right sleeve of his sweater.

He smiled grimly. And several minutes passed before he
remembered the engine. He thought then: “I’ll order an auto-
mobile chassis and an engineless plane, and a bar made of many
metals—have to make some tests first, of course.”

He stopped, his eyes widening with the possibilities. Life was
opening up again. But it was strangely hard to realize that the
engine still had no owner but himself.

“What’s that?” said a young man’s voice behind Pendrake.

It was growing quite dark; and the truck he had hired seemed
almost formless in the gathering night. Beside Pendrake the
machine shop loomed, a gloomy, unpainted structure. The lights
inside the building glimmered faintly through greasy windows.
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The machine-shop employees, who had loaded the gripper on
the truck for him, were gone through a door, their raucous good
nights still ringing in his ears. Pendrake was alone with his
questioner.

With a deliberate yet swift movement he pulled a tarpaulin
over the gripper, and turned to stare at the man who had addres-
sed him. The fellow stood in the shadows, a tall, powerful-
looking young man, The light from the nearest street lamp glinted
on high, curving cheekbones, but it was hard to make out the
exact contours of the face.

It was the intentness of the other’s manner that sent a chill
through Pendrake. Here was no idler’s curiosity, but an earnest-
ness, a determination that was startling. With an effort, Pendrake
caught himself. “What’s it to you?” he said curtly.

He climbed into the cab. The engine purred. Awkwardly,
Pendrake manipulated the right-hand gear shift and rolled off.

He could see the man in his rear-view mirror, still standing
there in the shadows of the machine shop, a tall, strong figure.
The stranger started to walk slowly in the same direction that
Pendrake was driving. The next second Pendrake whipped the
truck around a corner and headed down a side street. He thought,
“I’ll take a roundabout course to the cottage, then quickly return
the truck to the man I rented it from, and then—"

Something damp trickled down his cheek. He let go of the
steering wheel and felt his face. It was covered with sweat. He sat
very still, thinking: “Am I crazy? I surely don’t believe that
someone is secretly searching for the engine.”

His jumpy nerves slowly quieted. What was finally convincing
was the coincidence of such a searcher standing near a machine
shop of a small town at the very instant that Jim Pendrake
was there, It was like an old melodrama where the villains were
dogging the unsuspecting hero. Ridiculous! Nevertheless, the
episode emphasized an important aspect of his possession of
the engine: Somewhere that engine had been built. Somewhere
was the owner.

He must never forget that.

It was darker when he was finally ready. Pendrake entered the
garage-stable and turned on the light he had rigged up earlier
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in the day. The two-hundred-watt bulb shed a sunlike glare
that somehow made the small room even stranger than it had
been by lantern light.

The engine stood exactly where he had nailed it three nights
before. It stood there like a swollen tire for a small, broad
wheel; like a large, candied, blue-gray doughnut. Except for the
four sets of flanges and the size, the resemblance to a doughnut
was quite startling. The walls curved upward from the hole in
the center; the hole itself was only a little smaller than it should
have been to be in exact proportion. But there the resemblance to
anything he had ever known ended. The hole was the damnedest
thing that ever was.

It was about six inches in diameter. Its inner walls were
smooth, translucent, nonmetallic in appearance; and in its
geometrical center floated the piece of plumber’s pipe. Literally,
the pipe hung in space, held in position by a force that seemed
to have no origin.

Pendrake drew a deep, slow breath, picked up his hammer and
gendy laid it over the outjutting end of the pipe. The hammer
throbbed in his hand, but grimly he bore the pulsing needles of
resuscitated pain, and pressed. The pipe whirred on, unyielding,
unaffected. The hammer drrred with vibration. Pendrake grim-
aced from the agony and jerked the tool free.

He waited patiently until his hand ceased throbbing, then
struck the protruding end of pipe a sharp blow. The pipe receded
into the hole, and nine inches of it emerged from the other side
of the engine. It was almost like rolling a ball. With deliberate
aim, Pendrake hit the pipe from the far side, It bounced back so
easily that eleven inches of it flowed out, only an inch remaining
in the hole. It spun on like the shaft of a steam turbine, only
there was not even a whisper of sound, not the faintest hiss.

Thoughtfully, his lips pursed, Pendrake sagged back and sat
on his heels. The engine was not perfect. The ease with which the
pipe and, originally, the piece of wood had been pushed in and
out meant that gears or something would be needed. Something
that would hold steady at high speeds under great strains. He
climbed slowly to his feet, intent now. He dragged into position
the device he had had constructed by the machine shop. It took
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several minutes to adjust the gripping wheel to the right height.
But he was patient.

Finally, he manipulated the control lever. Fascinated, he
watched the two halves of the wheel close over the one-inch pipe,
grip, and begin to spin. A glow suffused his whole body. It was
the sweetest pleasure that had touched him in three long years.
Gently, Pendrake pulled on the gripping machine, tried to draw
it toward him along the floor. It didn’t budge. He frowned at
it. He had the feeling that the machine was too heavy for delicate
pressures. Muscle was needed here, and without restraint. Bracing
himself, he began to tug, hard.

Afterward, he remembered flinging himself back toward the
door in his effort to get out of the way. He had a mental picture
of the nails that held the engine to the floor pulling out as
the engine toppled over toward him. The next instant the engine
lifted, lifted lightly, in some incomprehensible fashion, right off
the floor. It whirled there for a moment slowly, propeller-fashion,
then fell heavily on top of the gripping machine.

With a crash the wooden planks on the floor splintered. The
concrete underneath, the original floor of the garage, shattered
with a grinding noise as the gripping machine was smashed
against it fourteen hundred times a minute. Metal squealed in
torment and broke into pieces in a shattering hail of death. The
confusion of sound and dust and spraying concrete and metal
was briefly a hideous environment for Pendrake’s stunned mind.

Silence crept over the scene like the night following a day
of battle, an intense, unnatural silence. There was blood on
Dandy’s quivering flank, - where something had gashed him.
Pendrake stood, soothing the trembling horse, assessing the
extent of the destruction. He saw that the engine was lying on
its face, apparently unaffected by its own violence. It lay, a
glinting, blue-gray thing in the light from the miraculously
untouched electric bulb.

It took half an hour to find all the pieces of what had been the
gripping machine. He gathered the parts one by one and took
them into the house. The first real experiment with the machine
was over. Successfully, he decided.

He sat in darkness in the kitchen, watching. The minutes
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ticked by, a calm succession. And there was still no movement
outside. Pendrake sighed finally. It seemed clear that no one had
paid any attention to the cataclysm in his garage. Or if they had
they didn’t give a damn. The engine was still safe.

The easing tension brought a curious awareness of how lopely
he was. Suddenly, the very restfulness of the silence oppressed
him. He had an abrupt, sharp conviction that his developing
victory over the engine wasn’t going to be any fun for one man
cut off from the world by the melancholia in his character. He
thought drably: “I ought to go and see her.”

No—he shook himself—come to think of it, that wouldn’t
work. A genuine introvert like Eleanor acquired an emotional
momentum in a given direction. Getting her out of that involved
forces similar to the basic laws of hypnosis: The more direct the
pressure to change her, the greater would be her innate resist-
ance. Even if she herself willed to be free, the more determined
she became about it, the more deeply she would become involved
in the morass of emotions that was her psychic prison. Definitely,
it wouldn’t do any good to go and see her. But there was another
possibility.

Pendrake put on his hat and went out into the night. At the
corner drugstore, he headed straight for the phone booth. “Is
Mrs. Pendrake in?” he asked when his call was answered.

“Yes, suh!” The woman’s deep voice indicated that there was
at least one new servant at the big white house. It was not a
familiar voice. “Just a moment, suh.”

A few seconds later, Eleanor’s rich contralto was saying,
“Mrs. Pendrake speaking.”

“Eleanor, this is Jim,” )

“Yes?” Pendrake smiled wanly at the tiny change in her tone,
the defensive edge that was suddenly in it.

“I’d like to come back, Eleanor,” he said softly.

There was silence, then—

Click!

Out in the night again, Pendrake looked up at the starry
heavens. The sky was dark, dark blue. The whole fabric of the
universe of Occidental earth was well settled into mnight.
Crescentville shared with the entire Eastern seaboard the pen-
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umbral shadows of the great mother planet. He thought:
Maybe it had been a mistake, but now she knew. Her mind had
probably gone dead slow on thoughts about him. Now it would
come alive again.

He strolled up the back alley to his cottage. Reaching the
yard, he suppressed an impulse to climb the tree from which the
big white house was visible. He flung himself on the cool grass
of the back lawn, stared at the garage, and thought shakily: An
engine that would spin anything shoved into its force field or, if
it resisted, smash it with the ease of power unlimited. An engine
through which a shaft could be pusked, but from which it could
not be pulled. Which meant that an airplane propeller need only
be fastened to a bar of graded metals—graded according to
atomic weight and density.

Someone was knocking at the front door of the cottage.
Pendrake jumped physically and mentally. But presently he
took the telegram from the boy who had disturbed him. The
telegram read:

CABIN MODEL PUMA DELIVERED TO DORMANTOWN
AIRPORT TOMORROW STOP SPECIAL ENGINE BRACES
AND CONTROLS INSTALLED AS REQUESTED STOP MAG-
NESIUM ALLOY AND AEROGEL PLASTIC CONSTRUCTION
sTOP

ATLANTIC AIRCRAFT CORP.

Never, pever, never had he been in a plane so fast. All the
military machines he’d ever flown, the Lightnings, the Mustangs,
Pumas, did not compare even remotely to the machine that
quivered like vibrating bar steel before the power of the engine
of dreams. The plane seemed to have no connection with earth.
It was a creature of the sky, an arrow discharged by Jove. When
he finally brought it down, Pendrake sat in the control seat, eyes
closed, tugging his soul back from the upper heavens, where it
had roamed, a free spirit.

He sat at last, sobered by the tremendous success. Because,
what now? He could take other flights, of course, but sooner or
later his machine, in its silent journeyings, would be remarked.
And every day that passed, every hour that he clung to this
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secrecy, his moral position would grow worse.. Somebody owned
the engine. Owned it and wanted it. He must decide once and
for all whether or not to advertise his possession of it. It was time
to make up his mind.

He found himself frowning at the four men who were coming
toward him along the line of sheds. Two of them were carrying
between them a large tool case and one was pulling a small
wagon which had other material on it. The group stopped fifty
feet from Pendrake’s plane. Then one of them came forward,
fumbling in his pocket. He knocked on the cabin door.

“Something I'd like to ask you, mister!” he yelled.

Pendrake hesitated, cursing silently. He had been assured
that no one else had rented a plane garage at this end of the field,
and that the big sheds near by were empty, for use in future
years only. Impatient, he activated the lever that opened the
door. “What—" he began. He stopped, choked a little. He
stared at the revolver that glittered at him from a hand that was
rock steady, then glanced up at a face that—he saw with a start
now—was covered by a flesh mask.

“Get out of there.”

As Pendrake climbed to the ground, the man backed warily
out of arm’s reach and the other men ran forward, pulling
their wagon, carrying their tools. They stowed the stuff into the
plane and climbed in. The man with the gun paused in the door-
way, drew a package out of the breast pocket of his coat and
tossed it at Pendrake’s feet.

“That’ll pay you for the plane. And remember this, you will
only make yourself look ridiculous if you pursue this matter
further. This engine is in an experimental stage. We want to
explore all its possibilities before we apply for a patent, and
we don’t inted to have simple secondary patents, improvements
and what not hindering our development of the invendon.
That’s all.”

The plane began to move. In a minute it was lifting. It became
a speck in the western sky and was merged into the blue haze of
distance. The thought that came finally to Pendrake was: His
decision had been made for him.

His sense of loss grew. And his blank feeling of helplessness.
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For a while he watched the local planes taking off and landing
on the northern runway; it was a mindless watch that left him
after ten minutes still without a plan or purpose.

He could go home. He pictured himself sneaking into his
cottage in Crescentville like a whipped dog, with the long, long
evening still ahead of him. Or—the dark thought knit his brow
—he could go to the police. The impulse jarred deeper and
brought his first memory of the package that had been thrown at
his feet. He stooped, picked it off the concrete, tore it open and
counted the green bills inside. When he had finished, he mustered
a wry smile, A hundred dollars more than he had paid for the
Puma.

But it was a forced sale, and didn’t count. With abrupt deci-
sion, Pendrake started the engine of his borrowed truck and
headed for the Dormantown station of the state police. His
doubts returned with a rush as the police sergeant, half an hour
later, gravely noted down his charge.

“You found the engine, you say?” The policeman reached
that point finally.

‘(Yes.”

“Did you report your find to the Crescentville branch of the
state police?”

Pendrake hesitated. It was impossible to explain the instinc-
tive way he had covered up his possession of the engine without
the engine as evidence of how unusual a find it was. He said at
last, “I thought at first it was a piece”of junk. When I discovered
it wasn’t, I quickly learned that no such loss had been reported.
I decided on the policy of finders keepers.”

‘But the rightful owners now have it?”

“I would say so, yes,” Pendrake admitted. “But their use of
guns, their secrecy, the way they forced me to sell the plane
convince me I ought to press the matter.”

The policeman made a note, then, “Can you give me the
manufacturer’s number of the engine?”

Pendrake groaned. He went out finally into the gathering
dusk feeling that he had fired a dud shot into impenetrable night.

He reached Washington by the morning plane from Dorman-
town and went at once to the office of Hoskins, Kendlon, Baker,
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and Hoskins, patent attorneys. A moment after his name had
been sent in, a slim, dandified young man broke out of a door and
came loping across the anteroom. Oblivious of the startled
amazement of the reception clerk, he cried in an intense voice:

“The Air Force’s Man of Steel. Jim, I—”

He stopped. His blue eyes widened. Some of the color went out
of his cheeks and he stared with a stricken look at Pendrake’s
empty sleeve, Silendy, he pulled Pendrake into his private office.
He muttered, “The man who pulled knobs off doors when he was
in a hurry and crushed anything in his hands when he got
excited—" He shook himself, threw off the gloom with an effort.
“How’s Eleanor, Jim?”

Pendrake had known the beginning was going to be hard. As
briefly as possible, he explained: “—You know what she was
like. She held that job in the research department of the Hilliard
Encyclopedia Company, an out-of-the-world existence that I
pulled her away from, and—"

He finished after a moment and plunged instantly into a
detailed account of the engine. By the time he reached the end
of his story, Hoskins was pacing the office floor.

“A secret group with a new, marvelous engine invention.
Jim, this sounds big to me. I'm well connected with the Air
Force and know Commissioner Blakeley. But there’s no time to
waste. Have you plenty of money?”

Pendrake nodded doubtfully. “I guess so.”

“I mean, we can’t waste time on red tape. Can you lay out
five thousand dollars for the electron image camera? You know,
the one that was invented just at the end of the war? Maybe
you’ll get your money back, maybe you won’t. The important
thing is that you go to that hillside where you found the engine
and photograph the soil electrons. We must have a picture of that
engine to convince the type of cynic that’s beginning to show
himself in town again, the fellow who won’t believe anything he
doesn’t see, and gives you a sustained runaround if you can’t
show him.”

The man’s excitement was contagious. Pendrake jumped up.
“I’ll leave at once. Where can I get one of those cameras?”

“There’s a firm in town that sells them to the government and
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to various educational institutes for geologic and archaeologic
purposes. Now, look, Jim, I hate to rush you off like this. I'd
like you to come home and meet my wife; but dme is of the
essence in those photographs. That soil is exposed to the light,
and the image will be fuzzy.”

“I’ll be seeing you,” Pendrake said, and started for the door.

The prints came out beautifully clear, the image of the machine
unmistakable. Pendrake was sitting in his living room admiring
the glossy finish when the girl from the telephone office knocked.

“There’s a long-distance call for you from New York,” she
said. “The party is waiting, Will you come to the exchange?”

“Hoskins,” Pendrake thought, though he couldn’t imagine
what Ned would be doing in New York. The first sound of the
strange voice on the phome chilled him. “Mr. Pendrake,” it
said quietly, “we have reason to believe that you are still attached
to your wife. It would be regrettable if anything should happen
to her as a result of your meddling in something that does not
concern you. Take heed.”

There was a click. The sharp little sound was still echoing in
Pendrake’s mind minutes later as he walked blankly along the
street. Only one thing stood out clearly: The investigation was
over.

The days dragged. For the first time it struck Pendrake that it
was the engine that had galvanized him out of his long stupor.
And that he had launched on the search as swiftly as he had
because deep inside of him had been the realization that without
the engine he would have nothing. It was worse than that. He
tried to resume the old tenor of his existence. And he couldn’t.
The almost mindless rides on Dandy that once had lasted from
dawn to dark ended abruptly before 10.00 a.m. on two
successive days. And were not resumed. It wasn’t that he no
longer wanted to go riding. It was simply that life was more than
an idler’s dream. The three-years’ sleep was over. On the fifth
day, a telegram arrived from Hoskins:

WHAT’S THE MATTER? I'VE BEEN EXPECTING TO HEAR
FROM YOU.
NED.



Uneasily, Pendrake tore the message to shreds. He intended
to answer it, but he was still cudgeling his brain over the exact
wording of his reply two days later when the letter arrived:

—cannot understand your silence. I have interested Air
Commissioner Blakeley, and some technical staff officers
have already called on me. In another week I’ll look like a
fool. You bought the camera; I checked up on that. You
must have the pictures, so for Pete’s sake let me hear from
you—

Pendrake answered that:

I am dropping the case, I am sorry that I bothered you with
it, but I have found out something which completely trans-
forms my views on the affair, and I am not at liberty to
reveal what it is.

Wouldn’t reveal it would have been the truth, but it would be
inexpedient to say so. These active Air Force officers—he had
been one of them in his time—couldn’t yet have got into their
systems that fact that peace was radically different from war.
The threat to Eleanor would merely make them impatient; her
death or injury would constitute a casualty list so minor as to be
beneath consideration. Naturally, they would take precautions.
But to hell with them.

On the third day after he sent the letter, a taxi drew up before
the gate of the cottage, and Hoskins and a bearded giant climbed
out. Pendrake let them in, quietly acknowledged the introduction
to the great Blakeley, and sat cold before the storm of questions.
After ten minutes, Hoskins was as white as a sheet,

“I can’t understand it,” he raved. “You took the photos,
didn’t you?”

No answer. _

“How did they come out?”

Silence.

“This thing you learned that transformed your views, did you
obtain further information as to who is behind the engine?”
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Pendrake thought in anguish that he should have lied outright
in his letter, instead of making a stupidly compromising
statement. What he had said had been bound to arouse intense
curiosity and this agony of interrogation.

“Let me talk to him, Hoskins.” Pendrake felt a distinct relief
as Commissioner Blakeley spoke. It would be easier to deal with
a stranger. He saw that Hoskins was shrugging as he seated
himself on the chesterfield and nervously lighted a cigarette.

The big man began in a cool, deliberate tone: “I think what
we have here is a psychological case. Pendrake, do you remember
that fellow who in 1936 or thereabouts claimed to have an engine
that got its power from the air? When the reporters swarmed
over his car, they found a carefully concealed battery. And
then,” the cold, biting voice went on, “there was a woman who,
two years ago, claimed to have seen a German submarine in Lake
Ontario. Her story got wilder and wilder as the navy’s investiga-
tion progressed, and finally she admitted she had told the story
to friends to rouse interest in herself, and when the publicity
started she didn’t have the nerve to tell the truth. Now, in your
case, you'’re being smarter.”

The extent of the insult brought a twisted smile to Pendrake’s
face. He stood like that, staring at the floor, listening almost
idly to the verbal humiliation he was being subjected to. He felt
so remote from the hammering voice that his surprise was
momentarily immense as two gigantic hands grabbed his lapels
and the handsome, bearded face poked belligerently into his,
and the scathing voice blared :

“That’s the truth, isn’t it?”

He hadn’t thought of himself as being wrought up. He had no
sense of rage as, with an impatient sweep of his hand, he broke
the big man’s double grip on him, whirled him around, caught
him by the collar of his coat and carried him, kicking and
shouting in amazement, into the hallway and through the screen
door onto the verandah. There was 2 wild moment as Blakeley
was heaved onto the lawn below. He came to his feet bellowing.
But Pendrake was already turning away. In the doorway he met
Hoskins. Hoskins had his coat and bowler hat. He said in a level
voice:
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“I’'m going to remind you of something—" He intoned the
words of the great pledge of men of honor. And he couldn’t
have known that he had won because he walked down the steps
without looking back. The waiting taxi was gone before Pendrake
grasped how completely those final words had defeated his own
purpose,

That night he wrote the letter to Eleanor. He followed it the
next day at the hour he had named: 3.30 p.m. When the plump
Negress opened the door of the big white house, Pendrake had
the fleeting impression that he was going to be told that Eleanor
was out, But she wasn’t, He was led through the familiar halls
into the forty-foot living room. The Venetian blinds were drawn
against the sun and so it took a moment for Pendrake to make out
in the gloom the figure of the lithe young woman who had risen
to meet him.

Her voice came, rich, familiar, questioning, out of the dim-
ness: “Your letter was not very explanatory. However, I had
intended to see you anyway; but never mind that, What danger
am I in?”

He could see her more clearly now. And for a moment he
could only stand there, drinking her in with his eyes—her slim
body, every feature of her face, and the dark hair that crowned it.
He grew aware that she was flushing under his intense scrutiny.
Quickly, he began his explanation.

“My intention,” he said, “was to drop the whole affair. But
just as I thought I had ended the matter by tossing Blakeley
out, I was reminded by Hoskins of my Air Force oath to my
country.”

(GOh ! ”

“For your own safety,” he went on, more decisive now, “you
must leave Crescentville for the time being, lose yourself in the
vastness of New York until this matter has been probed to the
bottom.”

“I see!” Her dark gaze was non-committal. She looked oddly
stiff, sitting in the chair she had chosen, as if she was not quite
at ease. She said at last, “The voices of the two men who spoke to
you, the gunman and the man on the phone—what were they
like?”
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Pendrake hesitated, “One was a young man’s voice. The other,
middle-aged.”

“No, I don’t mean that. I mean the texture, the command of
language, the degree of education.”

“Oh!” Pendrake stared at her. He said slowly, “I hadn’t
thought of that. Very well educated, I should say.”

“English?”

“No, American.”

“That’s what I meant. Nothing foreign, though?”

“Not the slightest.”

They were both, Pendrake realized, more at ease now. And he
was delighted at the cool way she was facing her danger. After
all, she wasn’t trained to face down physical terrors; and being
an introvert wouldn’t help her any. Before he could think
further, she said:

‘““This engine—what kind is it? Have you any idea?”

Did -he have any idea! He who had racked his brain into the
dark watches of a dozen nights! “It must,” said Pendrake
carefully, “have grown out of a tremendous background of
research. Nothing so perfect could spring full grown into
existence without a mighty base of other men’s work to build on.
Though even with that, somebody must have had an inspiration
of pure genius.” He finished quietly, “It’s an atomic engine, I
should say. It can’t be anything else. There’s no other comparable
background.”

She was staring at him, looking not quite sure of her next
words. She said at last in a formal voice: “You don’t mind my
asking these questions?”

He knew what that meant. She had suddenly become aware
that she was thawing. He thought: “Oh, damn these sensitives.”
He said quickly, earnestly, “You have already cleared up some
important points, Just where they will lead is another matter.
Can you suggest anything else?”

There was silence, then: “I realize,” she said slowly, “that I
am not properly qualified. I have no scientific knowledge, but I
do have my research training. I don’t know whether my next
question is foolish or not, but—what is the decisive date for
atomic energy?”
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Pendrake frowned, said, “I think I see what you mean. What
is the latest date that an atomic engine couldn’t have been
developed ?”

“Something like that,” she agreed. Her eyes were bright.

Pendrake was thoughtful. “I’ve been reading up on it lately.
1938 might fit, but 1940 is more likely.”

“Ten years?”

Pendrake nodded. He knew what she was going to say, and
that it was excellent, but he waited for her to say it. She did,
after a moment. “Is there any way you can check up on the
activities of every able person who has done atomic research in
this country during that time?”

He inclined his head. “I'll go first,” he said, “to my old physics
professor. He’s one of those perpetually young old men who
keep abreast of everything.”

Her voice, steady, cool, cut him off. “You’re going to pursue
this search in person?”

She glanced involuntarily at his right sleeve as she finished,
then flushed scarlet. There was no doubt of the memory that was
in her mind. Pendrake said swiftly, with a wan smile, “I’m afraid
there’s no one else. A soon as I’ve made a little progress I'll go
to Blakeley and apologize for treating him as I did. Until then,
right arm or not, I doubt if there’s anyone more capable than I
am.” He frowned. “Of course, there is the fact that a one-armed
man is easily spotted.”

She had control of herself again. “I was going to suggest that
you obtain an artificial arm and a flesh mask. Those people must
have worn civilian masks if you recognized the disguise so
quickly, You can secure the perfect soldier’s type.”

She stood up and finished in a level voice: “As for leaving
Crescentville, I had already written my old firm, and they are
hiring me in my former position. That was what I intended to
see you about. I shall leave the house secretly tonight, and by
tomorrow you should be free to pursue your investigations.
Good luck.”

They faced each other, Pendrake shocked to his core by the
abrupt termination of the meeting, and by her words. They
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parted like two people who had been under emormous strain.

“And that,” Pendrake thought as he stood out in the sun’s
glare, “is the truth.”

It was after midnight, September 8th. Pendrake walked, head
bent, into a strong east wind along a well-lighted street in the
Riverdale section of New York City. He peered at the numbers
of the houses as he pressed by: 418, 420, 432.

No. 432 was the third house from the corner; and he walked
on past it to the lightpost. Back to the wind, he stood in the
bright glow, once more studying his precious list—a final veri~
fication. His original intention had been to investigate every one
of the seventy-three eastern Americans on that list, starting with
the A’s. On second thought, he had realized that scientists of
firms like Westinghouse, the Rockefeller Foundation, private
laboratories with small means, and physicists and professors
who were carrying on individual research, were the least likely
candidates, the former because of the impossibility of secrecy,
the latter because that engine must have plenty of money behind
it. Which left three private foundations. By far the wealthiest of
these was the Lambton Institute, whose distinguished executive
physicist, Dr. McClintock Grayson, lived in the third house from
the corner. )

He reached the front door of the darkened residence, and
experienced his first disappointment. In a dim way he had
hoped the door would be unlocked. It wasn’t; and that meant all
the doors he had opened in his life without ever noticing they
were locked would now have to be precedents, proofs that a
Yale lock could be broken silently. It seemed different doing it
on purpose, but he tensed himself, and gripped the knob. The
lock broke with the tiny click of metal that has been abruptly
subjected to unbearable pressure.

In the inky hallway, Pendrake stood for a moment listening.
But the only sound was the pounding of his heart. He went
forward cautiously, using his flashlight as he peered into
doors. Presently, he verified that the study must be on the second
floor. He took the stairs four at a time.

The hallway of the second floor was large, with five closed
doors and two open ones leading from it. The first open door led
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to a bedroom; the second into a large, cozy room lined with
bookshelves, Pendrake sighed with relief as he tiptoed into it.
There was a desk in one corner, a small filing cabinet and
several floor lamps. After a swift survey, he closed the door
behind him and turned on the trilight beside the chair next to
the desk.

Once again he waited, listening with every nerve tensed.
From somewhere near came a faint, regular breathing. But that
was all. The ménage of Dr. Grayson was resting peacefully
from its day’s labors, which-~Pendrake reflected as he seated
himself at the desk—was where they ought to be, It would be
unfair of fate to let him be interrupted now.

At two o’clock he had his man. The proof was a scrawled note
abstracted from a mass of irrelevant papers that cluttered one
drawer. It read:

The pure mechanics of the engine’s operation depends
on revolutions per minute, At very low r.p.m, i.e., fifty to
one hundred, the pressure will be almost entirely on a line
vertical to the axial plane. If weights have been accurately
estimated, a machine will at this stage lift buoyantly,
but the forward movement will be almost zero—

Pendrake paused there, puzzled. It couldn’t be anything but
the engine that was being discussed. But what did it mean? He
read on:

As the number of r.p.m. increases, the pressure will shift
rapidly toward the horizontal, until, at about five hundred
revolutions, the pull will be along the ‘axial plane—and all
counter or secondary pressure will have ceased. It is at this
stage that the engine can be pushed along a shaft, but not
pulled. The field is so intense that—

The reference to the shaft was ultimately convincing. He
remembered only too well his own violent discovery that the
shaft could not be pulled out of the engine.

The atomic wizard of the age was Dr. Grayson.
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Quite suddenly, Pendrake felt weak, He lay back in the chair,
strangely dizzy. He thought: “Got to get out of here. Now that
I know, I can’t take the chance of being caught.”

The wild triumph came as the front door closed behind him.
He walked down the street, his mind soaring with such a
drunken exultancy that he swayed like an intoxicated person.
He was eating breakfast at a lunch counter a mile away when
the reaction came: So Dr. Grayson, famous savant, was the man
behind the marvelous engine! So what now?

In the morning he phoned Hoskins long distance. “It’s impos-
sible,” he thought, as he waited for the call to be put through,
“that I carry on with this tremendous business all by myself.”

If anything should happen to him, what he had discovered
would dissolve into the great darkness, perhaps never to be
reconstituted. After all, he was here because he had taken to
heart a timeless oath of allegiance to his country, an oath that
he had not, until reminded, considered relevant.

His reverie ended as the operator said: “Mr. Hoskins refuses
to accept your call, sir.”

His problem seemed as old as his existence. As he sat in the
hotel library that afternoon, his mind kept coming back to the
aloneness of his position, the reality that all decisions about the
engine were his to make and his to act upon, What an incredible
fool he was! He ought to put the whole miserable business out
of his mind and go to a movie. Or return to Crescentville. The
property there would need attention before winter. But he knew
he wouldn’t go. What would he do in that lonely town during
the long days and the long nights of the coming years? '

There was only the ‘engine. All his interest in life, his rebirth
of spirit dated from the moment that he had found the
doughnut-shaped thing. Without the engine, or rather—he made
the qualification consciously—without the search for the engine,
he was a lost soul, wandering aimlessly through the eternity
that was being on earth.

After a timeless period he grew aware suddenly of the weight
of the book in his hands and remembered his purpose in coming
to the library. The book was the 1948 edition of the Hilliard
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Encyclopedia, and it revealed that Dr. McClintock Grayson had
been born in 1897, that he had one daughter and two sons, and
that he had made notable contributions to the fission theory of
atomic science. Of Cyrus Lambton the Encyclopedia said:

—manufacturer, philanthropist, he founded the Lambton

Institute in 1936. Since the war, Mr, Lambton has become

actively interested in a Back to the Land Movement, the .
uniquely designed headquarters for this project being

located at—

Pendrake went out finally into the warm September afternoon
and bought a car. His days became a drab routine. Watch
Grayson come out of his house in the morning, follow him until
he disappeared into the Lambton Building, trail him home at
night. It scemed endless, purposeless, hopeless. The world
became a pattern of gray streets unreeling. He felt himself a
wheel turning over and over on its axle, turning, turning, because
it was easier to do that than to decide what else his life was good
for.

On the seventeenth day the routine broke like a wave striking
a wedge of rock. At one o’clock in the afternoon Grayson
emerged briskly from the aerogel plastic structure that was the
post-war abode of the Lambton Foundation.

The hour itself was startling. But immediately the difference
of this day to the others showed more clearly. The scientist
ignored his gray sedan parked beside the building, walked half a
block to a taxi stand, and was driven to a twin-turreted building
on Fiftieth Street; a plasto-glitter sign splashed across the two
towers:

CYRUS LAMBTON LAND
SETTLEMENT PROJECT

As Pendrake watched, Grayson dismissed the taxi, and dis-
appeared through a revolving door into one of the broad-based
towers. Puzzled, but vaguely excited, Pendrake sauntered to a
window that had a large glitter sign in it, The sign read:
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THE
CYRUS LAMBTON PROJECT

wants earnest, sincere young couples who are willing to work
hard to establish themselves on rich soil in a verdant and
wonderful climate.

Former farmers, sons of farmers and their daughter-of-
farmers’ wives are especially welcome, No one who desires
proximity to a city or who has relatives he must visit need
apply. Here is a real opportunity under a private endowment
plan.

Three more couples wanted today for the latest allotment,
which will leave shortly under the monitorship of Dr.
McClintock Grayson, Office open until 11 p.m,

HURRY [

It seemed meaningless and without connection to an engine
lying on a hillside. But it brought a thought that wouldn’t go
away; a thought that was really a product of an urge that had
been pressing at him for all the dreary days now past. For an
hour he fought the impulse, then it grew too big for his brain,
and projected down into his muscles, carried him unresisting to a
phone booth. A minute later he was dialling the number of the
Hilliard Encyclopedia Company.

There was a moment while she was being called to the phone.
He thought a thousand thoughts, and twice he nearly hung up
the receiver; and then:

“Jim, what’s happened?”

The anxiety in her voice was the sweetest sound he had ever
heard. Pendrake held himself steady as he explained what he
wanted: “—you’ll have to get yourself an old coat and put on a
cheap cotton dress or something; and I'll buy some second-
hand things. All I want is to find out what is behind that land-
settlement scheme. We could go in before dark this evening. A
simple inquiry shouldn’t be dangerous.”

His mind was blurred with the possibility of seeing her again.
And so the uneasy idea of possible danger stayed deep inside
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him and did not rise to the surface until he saw her coming along
the street. She would have walked right past, but he stepped out
and said :

“Eleanor!”

She stopped short; and, looking at her, it struck him for the
first time that the slip of a girl he had married six years before
was grown up. She was still slim enough to satisfy any woman,
but the richer contours of maturity were there, too. She said:

“I forgot about the mask, and the artificial arm. They make
you look almost—"

Pendrake smiled grimly. “Almost human, eh?”

He knew instantly that he had said the wrong thing. She
turned as pale as gray metal. For a panicky moment it seemed to
Pendrake that she was going to faint. He caught her arm, cried,
“I’m sorry, Eleanor. I'm a damned idiot. I ought to be shot.”

“You had no right to say that,” she breathed. “I know I was
foolish that day three years ago when you returned from China.
I ought not to have screamed when I saw your empty sleeve.
But you should have written. You-should-have-written.”

She made no move to withdraw her wrist from his fingers,
and he could feel her trembling. He said in an intense voice,
“Eleanor, it was all my fault. My walking out on you in front of
all those people—it was the damnedest humiliation ever inflicted
on a sensitive woman.”

“You were overwrought from your terrible loss; and my
scream—"

“I was a scoundrel, I deserve—""

He stopped because she was staring at him with a strange
tenderness that made his mind reel. She said, “Let’s forget it,
Jim. And now, is that the building over there?”

“Eleanor, did you say—"

“We’ll have to hurry if we intend to get in before it gets
really dark.”

“Eleanor, when you said ‘let’s forget it,’ did you mean—"

But Eleanor stood staring across at the building, a complacent
smile on her lips. “Aerogel turrets,” she mused aloud, “a hundred
and fifty feet high; one completely opaque, windowless, doorless
—1I wonder what that means—and the other—We’ll be Mr. and
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Mrs. Lester Cranston, Jim, of Winora, Idaho. And we were
going to leave New York tonight but saw their sign. We’ll love
everything about their scheme.”

She started across the street. And Pendrake, tagging along
behind, was following her through the door before his senses
snapped back into position. In one comprehensive leap of mind
he saw that it was his own emotional desire to see her that had
brought her here.

“Eleanor,” he said tensely, “we’re not going in.”

He should have known it would be useless to speak. Inside, he
followed her with reluctant steps to a girl who sat at a spacious
plastic desk in the center of the room. He was seated before
the glitter sign at the edge of the desk caught his eye:

MISS GRAYSON

Miss— What! Pendrake twisted in his chair, and then a vast
uneasiness held him steady. Dr. Grayson’s daughter! So the
scientist’s family was mixed up in this. It was even possible that
two of the four men who had taken the plane from him had
been sons., And perhaps Lambton also had sons. He couldn’t
remember what the Encyclopedia had said about the children of
Lambton.

In the intensity of his thoughts he listened with half-attention
to the conversation between Eleanor and Grayson’s daughter.
But when Eleanor stood up, he remembered that the talk had
been of a psychological test in the back room. Pendrake watched
Eleanor walk across to the door that led to the second tower, and
he was glad when, after about three minutes, Miss Grayson
said:

“Will you go in now, Mr. Cranston?”

The door opeped into a narrow corridor, and there was
another door at the end of it. As his fingers touched the knob of
the second door, a net fell over him and drew taut.

Simultaneously, a slot opened to his right. Dr. Grayson, a
syringe in his fingers, reached through, pushed the needle into
Pendrake’s right arm above the elbow, and then called over his
shoulder to somebody out of sight:
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“This is the last one, Peter. We can leave as soon as it gets
dark.”

The slot clicked shut.

Pendrake squirmed desperately. He fought there under that
dim ceiling of light, striking against the net that held him. And
every instant the terror grew, the terror that was in him, not
for himself, but for Eleanor—Eleanor, who had gone through
this door minutes before,

He would have cried out, but his rage was too great, his fear
for her too near insanity. Eleanor, who had no artificial arm to
take the shock of the dope from the syringe. He stopped the
thought by an effort so violent that his whole being shook. He
must pretend to have succumbed. Only thus could he avoid
another syringe that might be more accurately aimed at a vital
spot.

As he let himself slump, a voice said, “That fellow fought
too hard. You'll have to increase the dose for these powerful-
looking men.”

The words were Pendrake’s first knowledge that his struggle
had been observed. He let himself slump farther, and after a
moment realized that the net was moving, lifting. A door
opened in the ceiling and brightness pressed against his eyelids.

“Lay him down here beside his wife.”

His body touched a softness that seemed to yield endlessly
like a bottomless cushion. The net writhed and wriggled from
under him; and suddenly it was gone. The young man’s voice
said, “Look at this, he’s severed four of the net strands. I thought
this plastiwire was unbreakable.”

The older man’s voice came from a greater distance:
“Strength is a curious quality. A dog can strain at a leash until
it rots—or break it the first day if he lunges against it with
enough snap. It—"

The scientst’s voice faded, as if he had gone into another
room and closed the door.

Gradually, as Pendrake lay there, he grew aware of breathing
around him, the slow, measured breathing of many people.
The sound, with all its implications of human beings still alive,
eased the dreadful tightness in his throat. He slitted his eyes and
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saw that he was in a round metal room filled with scores of
enormous hammocks that were suspended by cords attached to
both the metal floor and the metal ceiling. Twice, Pendrake slid
his leg over with the intention of dropping to the floor. But
each time a vague snatch of sound made him sink back and slow
his breath into rhythm with that of the others.

He was preparing for his third effort when his body was struck
a sharp, all-over blow. Beneath him the hammock sagged at least
two feet, and there was an awful emptiness inside him, like the
nausea of sustained hunger. It was like that for a very long time,
and actually there was no change in the fact. But his body grew
accustomed to the relentless pressure, Finally, puzzled, he slid
out of the voluminous folds of his hammock and dropped to the
floor.

He fell hard. The violence of it strained his muscles, and
there was a pressing weight on him that stunned because it was
beyond all his experience. And because he recognized it.
Acceleration! He must be in a ship. That damnable second
tower had contained a ship powered by atomic engines. But
what kind of a ship?

The thought faded as, with a blank will, he scrambled to
his feet. There was a stairway leading to a closed door. But the
door opened at his touch. One lightning glance revealed that no
human beings were in the room. There was a window that
showed a black sky punctuated with stars, and in the room itself,
mounted on rigid metal bars, eight engines were spinning. For a
moment, to his tensed mind, to his body concentrated on pos-
sible, impending danger, the scene seemed normal enough.

The number of engines didn’t matter. If one existed, so could
eight. And their unlimited power could surely raise a ship out
of a hundred-and-fifty foot turret, though the speed of that
rise in the night had been unnatural. Still, eight of those engines,
spinning on their shafts, was quite an assembly.

The normalness shattered. Pendrake sent a glance wild with
surmise at the engines. The engines were spinning on rigid
shafts, and it should be the shafts that spun. His memory flung
back to the night in his stable when the engine had lifted with
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strange buoyancy from the floor, spun slowly and—How could
he have missed the significance? How could he?

With a hissing intake of his breath, he ran to the window.
But the knowledge of what he would find was already in him.
For a long moment he shivered with the physical daze of seeing
interplanetary space, and then he drew his body and his mind
into closer union and was himself. He reached the room where
Dr. Grayson and the young men were lying in their hammocks.
The latter he dealt one stunning blow—and tied them both with
cords from their hammocks, tied them into their hammocks,
wrapping the cords around and around.

There was silence in the control room, His mind felt far away,
cold, joyless. His victory seemed somehow lacking. He couldn’t
quite place the missing factor, but perhaps it was the stunned
expressions of the two prisoners. Uncertain, Pendrake studied
the small instrument board. He thought finally: “That note I
found in Dr. Grayson’s study. All I've got to do is reduce the
r.p.m. of the engines to less than five hundred. The pressure will
gradually shift toward a line vertical to the axial plane and the
spaceship will turn in a great circle and head back toward
Earth.”

He glanced at the men and then he walked slowly to an
expanse of transparent aerogel, and stood staring out into the
velvet, light-sprinkled night. The sun was a ghasty, flaring
shape to his left. Pendrake said, without looking at the men:

“Where are you going? Mars, Venus, the Moon, or—" He
stopped. He couldn’t help it. Mars, Venus— He felt dizzy, then
electrified. The wonders of the skies! The only divine cogno-
mens that would survive all the ages of religion! “Whick one?”
Pendrake gasped, “Which planet?”

“Venus!” The answer sighed from the older man. “We have
a coloney there. Quite a large one now, A ship with a hundred
people leaves from ome of our centers every three days—and
there have been children.”

Pendrake said sternly, “A hundred people kidnapped from
Earth every three days—doped.” He choked a little.

“Denilin sleep drug!” said Grayson, “Harmless, quick, no
after effects. It saves simple people from their terror of some-
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thing new, like space. When they get to Venus they don’t mind.
The planet is smaller, you know, than has been thought, not more
than six thousand five hundred miles, more clouds high up, none
below. But the brightness of the sun comes through without the
heat; and all the glories of Earth cannot compare with the
treasure land that is Venus, No, they don’t mind when they see—
You must be Pendrake—that stiff right arm—We wondered
about you.”

“Doped!” repeated Pendrake. But the miasma of his fears
was fading. There was greater uncertainty in his voice as he
said, “But why the secrecy? This great invention! Properly
exploited it would be—"

“It would ruin everything!” It was the young man, his tone
desperate. “Pendrake, we’re not criminals. There are seventeen
famous scientists and their families in this—the greatest names
in atomic science, They decided in 1944 when the engine was
invented, when the war was already won, that the planets should
not inherit the bitterness of Earth. Don’t you see, a scramble
for territory would be hell? Our plan is to establish the nucleus
of a new nation, modeled after the United States; and everybody
who migrates becomes—a Venusian.”

It was several hours later that the spaceship landed on a
darkened lot. Pendrake and Eleanor climbed to the ground and
stood silently watching the torpedo-shaped spaceship merge
again with the clouded night sky.

The letter came to the big white house a week later:

Air Commissioner Blakeley has noted the names of the
scientists on the list you submitted, but feels that further
correspondence with you would be fruitless.

Pendrake grinned at his wife. “Now, everybody’s satisfied, I
had to report it, of course, but”—his expression grew thoughtful
—“it is hard to believe the planets will have their chance be-
cause I tossed a loud-mouthed fool out on his ear one August
afternoon.” )
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THE GREAT JUDGE

“JUDGMENT,” said the rad, “in the case of Douglas Aird, tried
for treason on August 2nd, last—"

With a trembling movement of his fingers, Aird turned the
volume control higher. The next words blared at him.

“—That Douglas Aird do surrender himself one week from
this day, that is, on September 17, 2460 A.D., to his neighbor-
hood patrol station, that he then be taken to the nearest con-
verter, there to be put to death—"

Click!

He had no conscious memory of shutting off the rad. One
instant the sound roared through his apartment, the next there
was dead silence. Aird sank back in his chair and stared with
sick eyes through the transparent walls out upon the shining
roofs of The Judge’s City. All these weeks he had known there
was no chance. The scientific achievements that, he had tried to
tell himself, would weigh the balance in his favor—even as he
assessed their value to the race, he had realized that the Great
Judge would not consider them from the same viewpoint as
himself,

He had made the fatal error of suggesting in the presence of
“friends” that a mere man like Douglas Aird could govern as
well as the immortal Great Judge, and that in fact it might be a
good idea if someone less remote from the needs of the mass
of the people had a chance to promulgate decrees. A little less
restriction, he had urged, and a little more individuality, With
such abandon he had spoken on the day that he succeeded in
transferring the nervous impulses of a chicken into the nervous
system of a dog.

He had attempted to introduce the discovery as evidence that
he was in an excited and abnormal state of mind. But the magis-
trate pronounced the reason irrelevant, immaterial, and facetious.
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He refused to hear what the discovery was, ruling coldly: “The
official science investigator of the Great Judge will call on you in
due course, and you will then turn your invention over to him
complete with adequate documentation.”

Aird presumed gloomily that the investigator would call in a
day or so. He toyed with the possibility of destroying his papers
and instruments. Shudderingly, he rejected that form of defiance.
The Great Judge’s control of life was so complete that he
permitted his enemies to remain at large until the day of their
execution. It was a point made much of by the Great Judge’s
propaganda department. Civilization, it was said, had never
before attained so high a level of freedom. But it wouldn’t do to
try the patience of the Great Judge by destroying an invention.
Aird had a sharp conviction that less civilized methods might
be used on him if he failed to carry through the farce.

Sitting there in his apartment, surrounded by every modern
convenience, Aird sighed. He would spend his last week alive in
any luxury he might choose. It was the final refinement of mental
torture, to be free, to have the feeling that if only he could think
of something he might succeed in escaping. Yet he knew escape
was impossible. Tf he climbed into his hopjet, he’d have to
swoop in at the nearest patrol station, and have his electronic
registration “plates” stamped with a signal. Thereafter, his
machine would continuously give off vibrations automatically
advising patrol vessels of the time and space limitations of his
permit.

Similar restrictions controlled his person. The electronic
instrument “printed” on his upper right arm could be activated
by any central, which would start a burning sensation of gradually
increasing intensity.

There was absolutely no escape from the law of the Great
Judge.

Aird climbed to his feet wearily. Might as well get his
material ready for the science investigator. It was too bad he
wouldn’t have an opportunity to experiment with higher life
forms but—

Aird stopped short in the doorway of his laboratory. His body
throbbed with the tremendousness of the idea that had slammed
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into his mind. He began to quiver. He leaned weakly against the
doorjamb, then slowly straightened.

“That’s it!”” He spoke the words aloud, his voice low and
intense, simultaneously utterly incredulous and hopeful to the
point of madness. It was the mounting hope that brought a
return of terrible weakness, He collapsed on the rug just inside
the laboratory, and lay there muttering to himself, the special
insanities of an electronician.

“,...have to get a larger grid, and more liquid, and—"

Special Science Investigator George Mollins returned to the
Great Judge’s Court, and immediately asked for a private inter-
view with the Great Judge.

“Tell him,” he told the High Bailiff of the Court, “that I
have come across a very important scientific discovery. He will
know what is meant if you simply say ‘Category AA."”

While he waited to be received, the Science Investigator
arranged his instruments for readier transport, and then he stood
idly looking around him at the dome-vaulted anteroom. Through
a transparent wall he could see the gardens below. In the pro-
fusion of greenery, he caught the glint of a white skirt, which
reminded him that the Great Judge was reputed to have at least
seven reigning beauties in his harem at all times.

“This way, sir. The Great Judge will receive you.”

The man who sat behind the desk looked about thirty-five years
old. Only his eyes and his mouth seemed older. From bleak blue
eyes and with thin-lipped silence, the immortal, ever-young
Great Judge studied his visitor.

The latter wasted no time. The moment the door shut behind
him, he pressed the button that released a fine spray of gas
straight at the Great Judge. The man behind the desk simply
sagged in his chair.

The visitor was calm but quick. He dragged the limp body
around to his instrument case, and removed the clothes of the
upper body. Swiftly, he swabbed the body with the liquid he
had brought, and began to attach his nodes. Half a dozen on one
side and a dozen on the other. The next step was to attach the
wires to his own body, lie down, and press the activator.

The question that puzzled Douglas Aird on the day that he
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succeeded in transferring the nervous impulses of a chicken into
the nervous system of a dog was, how complete was the
transference?

Personality, he argued with himself, was a ¢complex structure.
It grew out of many quadrillions of minute experiences and, as
he had discovered, finally gave to each body its own special
neural vibration.

Would it be possible by artificially forcing that exact
vibration upon another body to establish a nerve energy flow
between the two bodies? A flow so natural and easy that every
cell would be impregnated with the thoughts and memories of
the other body? A flow so complete, that, when properly
channeled, the personality of one body would flow into the
other?

The fact that a dog acted like a chicken was not complete
proof. Normally, he would have experimented very carefully
before trying it on a human being. But a man doomed to die
dido’t have to think of risks. When the Science Investigator
called on him two days before the date of the execution, he
gassed the man, and made the experiment then and there.

The transference was not absolutely complete, Blurred
memories remained behind, enough to make the routine of going
to the Great Judge’s Court familiar and easy. He had worried
about that. It was important that he follow the right etiquette
in approaching a man who normally permitted no one near
him but people he had learned to trust.

As it turned out, he did everything right. The moment he
felt the blurring sensation which marked the beginning of the
transfer of his personality from the body of the Science Investi-
gator to the body of the Great Judge, Aird acted. He released
a gas toward the Great Judge that would revive the man in
about five minutes. Simultaneously, he sprayed his present body
with instantaneous anaesthetic gas. Even as he sank into
unconsciousness, he could feel the sharp, hard personality of
the Great Judge slipping into the Investigator’s body.

Five minutes later Douglas Aird, now in the body of the
Great Judge, opened his eyes, and looked around him alertly.
Carefully, he disconnected the wires, packed the instruments—
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and then called a bailiff. As he had expected, no one questioned
the actions of the Great Judge. It was the work of an hour to
drive to the apartment of Douglas Aird, transfer the Great
Judge’s personality to the body of Douglas Aird—and at the
same time return the personality of the Science Investigator into
its proper body. As a precaution, he had the Science Investigator
taken to a hospital.

“Keep him there for three days under observation,” he
commanded.

Back at the Great Judge’s Court, he spent the next few days
cautiously fitting himself into the pleasant routine of a life of
absolute power. He had a thousand plans for altering a police
state into a free state, but as a scientist he was sharply aware of
the need for orderly transition.

It was at the end of a week that he inquired casually about a
traitor named Douglas Aird. The story was interesting. The
man had, it seemed, attempted to escape. He had flown some
five hundred miles in an unregistered hopjet before being
grounded by a local patrol. Immediately, he fled into the
mountains. When he failed to report on the morning of the day
set for his execution, the printed instrument on his right arm
was activated. Shortly before dusk, a tired, distracted, staggering
scarecrow of a man, screaming that he was the Great Judge,
appeared in a mountain patrol station. The execution was then
carried out with no further delay.

The report concluded: ‘“Seldom in the experience of the
attending patrol officers has a condemned man approached the
converter with so much reluctance.”

The Great Judge, sitting at his desk in the luxurious court,
could well believe it.
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SECRET UNATTAINABLE

THE file known as Secret Six was smuggled out of Berlin in
mid-1945 when Russia was in sole occupation of the city. How
it was brought to the United States is one of those dramatic true
tales of World War II. The details cannot yet be published since
they involve people now in the Russian zone of Germany.

All the extraordinary documents of this file, it should be
emphasized, are definitely in the hands of our own authorities;
and investigations are proceeding apace. Further revelations of
a grand order may be expected as soon as one of the machines is
built. All German models were destroyed by the Nazis early in
1945.

The documents date from 1937, and will be given chrono-
logically, without reference to their individual importance. But
first, it is of surpassing interest to draw attention to the following
news item, which appeared in the New York Sun, March 25,
1941, on page 17. At that dme it appeared to have no
significance whatever. The item:

GERMAN CREEK BECOMES RIVER

London, March 24 (delayed): A Royal Air Force recon-
naissance pilot today reported that a creek in northern Prussia,
marked on the map as the Gribe Creek, has become a deep,
swift river overnight. It is believed that an underground water-
way burst its bounds. Several villages in the path of the new
river showed under water. No report of the incident has yet
been received from Berlin,

There never was any report from Berlin. It should again be
pointed out that the foregoing news item was published in
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1941; the documents which follow date from 1937, a period of
four years. Four years of world-shaking history:

April 10, 1937
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject 10731—127—S—6

1. Inclosed is the report of the distinguished scientific board
of inquiry which sat on the case of Herr Professor Johann
Kenrube.

2. As you will see, the majority of the board oppose
emphatically the granting of State funds for what they describe
as a “fantastic scheme.” They deny that a step-up tube would
produce the results claimed, and refute utterly the number
philosophy involved. Number, they say, is a function, not a
reality, or else modern physics has no existence.

3. The minority report of Herr Professor Goureit, while
thought-provoking, can readily be dismissed when it is
remembered that Goureit, like Kenrube and Kenrube’s infamous
brother, was once a member of the SPD.

4. The board of inquiry, having in mind Hitler’s desire that
no field of scientific inquiry should be left unexplored, and as a
generous gesture to Goureit, who has a very great reputation and
a caustic pen, suggested that, if Kenrube could obtain private
funds for his research, he should be permitted to do so.

5. Provided Geheime Staats Polizei do not object, I concur.

G.L.

Author’s Note: The signature G.L. has been difficult to place.
There appear to have been several secretaries of the Bureau of
Physics Research, following one another in swift order. The
best accounts identify him as Gottfried Lesser, an obscure B Sc.
who early joined the Nazi party, and for a period was its one
and only science expert. Geheime Staats Polizei is of course
Gestapo.
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MEMO April 17, 1937
From  Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo

If Kenrube can find the money, let him go ahead. Himmler
concurs, provided supervision be strict.

K. Reissel
COPY ONLY June 2, 1937
From  Co-ordinator Dept., Deutsche Bank
To Gestapo

The marginally noted personages have recently transferred
sums totaling Reichsmarks four million five hundred thousand
to the account of Herr Professor Johann Kenrube. For your
information, please.

J Pleup.

June 11, 1937
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject Your 10731—127—S—6

Per your request for further details on the private life of
J. Kenrube since the death of his brother in June, 1934, in the
purge.

We quote from a witness, Peter Braun: “I was in a position
to observe Herr Professor Kenrube very closely when the news
was brought to him at Frankfort-on-Main that August, his
brother, had been executed in the sacred blood purge.

“Professor Kenrube is a thin, good-looking man with a very
wan face normally, This face turned dark with color, then
drained completely of blood. He clenched his hands and said:
“They’ve murdered him!’ Then he rushed off to his room.

“Hours later, I saw him walking, hatless, hair disarrayed,
along the bank of the river. People stopped to look at him, but
he did not see them. He was very much upset that first day. When
I saw him again the next morning, he seemed to have recovered.
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He said to me: ‘Peter, we must all suffer for our past mistakes.
The tragic irony of my brother’s death is that he told me only a
week ago in Berlin that he had been mistaken in opposing the
National-sozialistiche Arbeitspartei. He was convinced they
they were doing great things, I am too much of a scientist ever
to have concerned myself with politics.”

You will note, Excellency, that this is very much the set speech
of one who is anxious to cover up the indiscreet, emotional
outburst of the previous day. However, the fact that he was
able to pull himself together at all seems to indicate that affection
of any kind is but shallowly rooted in his character. Professor
Kenrube returned to his laboratories in July, 1934, and has
apparently been hard at work ever since.

There has been some discussion here concerning Kenrube, by
the psychologists attached to this office; and the opinion is
expressed, without dissent, that in three years the professor will
almost have forgotten that he had a brother.

K. Reissel.

MEMO AT BOTTOM OF LETTER:

I am more convinced than ever that psychologists should be
seen and not heard. It is our duty to watch every relative of
every person whose life is, for any reason, claimed by the State.
If there are scientific developments of worthwhile nature in this
Kenrube affair, let me know at once. His attainments are second

to none. A master plan of precaution is in order.
Himmler.

October 24, 1937
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube

The following report has been received from our Special
Agent Seventeen:
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“Kenrube has hired the old steel and concrete fortress, Gribe
Schloss, overlooking the Gribe Creek, which flows into the
Eastern Sea. This ancient fortress was formerly located on a
small hill in a valley. The hill has subsided, however, and is now
virtually level with the valley floor. We have been busy for more
than a mooth making the old place livable, and installing
machinery.”

For your information, Agent Seventeen is a graduate in
physics of Bonn University. He was for a time professor of
physics at Muenchen. In view of the shortage of technicians,
Kenrube has appointed Seventeen his chief assistant.

G.L.

May 21,1938
From  Science Branch, Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject 10731—127—S—6

Himmler wants to know the latest developments in the Kenrube
affair. Why the long silence? Exactly what is Professor Kenrube
trying to do, and what progress has he made? Surely, your
secret agent has made reports.

K. Reissel,

June 3, 1938
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube

Your letter of the 21st ultimo has been passed on to me. The
inclosed précis of the reports of our Agent Seventeen will bring
you up to date.

Be assured that we are keeping a careful watch on the
developments in this case. So far, nothing meriting special
attention has arisen.

G.L.
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PRECIS OF MONTHLY REPORTS
OF
AGENT SEVENTEEN

Our agent reports that Professor Kenrube’s first act was to
place him, Seventeen, in charge of the construction of the
machine, thus insuring that he will have the most intimate
knowledge of the actual physical details.

When completed, the machine is expected to occupy the
entire common room of the old fortress, largely because of the
use of step-up vacuum tubes. In this comnection, Seventeen
describes how four electric dynamos were removed from
Kenrube’s old laboratories, their entire output channeled through
the step-up tubes, with the result that a ninety-four per cent
improvement in efficiency was noted.

Seventeen goes on to state that orders for parts have been
placed with various metal firms but, because of the defense
program, deliveries are extremely slow. Professor Kenrube has
resigned himself to the possibility that his invention will not be
completed until 1944 or *45.

Seventeen, being a scientist in his own right, has become
interested in the machine. In view of the fact that, if successful,
it will insure measureless supplies of raw materials for our
Reich, he urges that some effort be made to obtain priorities.

He adds that he has become quite friendly with Kenrube. He
does not think that the Herr Professor suspects how closely he is
connected with the Bureau of Science. ‘

June 4, 1938
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject . 10731—127—S—6

Raw materials! Why was I not informed before that Kenrube
was expecting to produce raw materials? Why did you think 1
was taking an interest in this case, if not because Kenrube is a
genius of the first rank; and therefore anything he does must be
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examined with the most minute care? But—raw materials!
Are you all mad over there, or living in a world of pleasant
dreams?

You will at once obtain from Herr Professor Kenrube the full
plans, the full mathematics of his work, with photographs of the
machine as far as it has progressed. Have your scientists prepare
a report for me as to the exact nature of the raw materials that
Kenrube expects to obtain. Is this some transmutation affair, or
what is the method?

Inform Kenrube that he must supply this information or he
will obtain no further materials. If he satisfies our require-
ments, on the other hand, there will be a quickening of supplies.
Kenrube is no fool. He will understand the situation.

As for your agent, Seventeen, I am at once sending an agent
to act as his bodyguard. Friendly with Kenrube indeed!

Himmler.

June 28, 1938
From  Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of Physics
Subject  Secret Six

Have you received the report from Kenrube? Himmler is most

anxious to see this the moment it arrives.
' K. Reissel.

July 4, 1938
From  Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of Physics
Subject  Secret Six

What about the Kenrube report? Is it possible that your office
does not clearly grasp how important we regard this matter?
We have recently discovered that Professor Kenrube’s grand-
father once visited a very curious and involved revenge on a man
whom he hated years after the event that motivated the hatred.
Every conceivable precaution must be taken to see to it that the
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Kenrube machine can be duplicated, and the machine itself
protected.
Please send the scientific report the moment it is available.

K. Reissel.

July 4, 1938
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube

The report, for which you have been asking, has come to hand,
and a complete transcription is being sent to your office under
separate cover. As you will see, it is very elaborately prepared;
and I have taken the trouble to have a précis made of our
scientific board’s analysis of the report for your readier
comprehension.

G.L.

PRECIS
OF
SCIENTIFIC ANALYSIS OF KENRUBE'S REPORT
ON HIS INVENTION

General Statement of Kenrube’s Theory: That there are two
kinds of space in the universe, normal and hyper-space.

Only in normal space is the distance between star systems
and galaxies great. It is essential to the nature of things, to the
unity of material bodies, that intimate cohesion exist between
every particle of matter, between, for instance, the earth and the
universe as a whole.

Kenrube maintains that gravity does not explain the perfect
and wonderful balance, the singleness of organism that is a
galactic system. And that the theory of relativity merely evades
the issue in stating that planets go around the sun because it is
easier for them to do that than to fly off into space.
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Kenrube’s thesis, therefore, is that all the matter in the
universe conjoins according to a rigid mathematical pattern,
and that this conjunction presupposes the existence of hyper-
space.

Object of Invention: To bridge the gap through hyper-space
between the Earth and any plapet, or any part of any planet.
In effect, this means that it would not be necessary to drill for oil
in a remote planet. The machine would merely locate the oil
stratum, and tap it at any depth; the oil would flow from the
orifice of the machine which, in the case of the machine now
under construction, is ten feet in diameter.

A ten-foot flow of oil at a pressure of four thousand feet a
minute would produce approximately six hundred thousand
tons of oil every hour.

Similarly, mining could be carried on simply by locating the
ore-bearing veins, and skimming from them the purest ores.’

It should be pointed out that, of the distinguished scientists
who have examined the report, only Herr Professor Goureit
claims to be able to follow the mathematics proving the existence
of hyper-space.

COPY ONLY July 14, 1938

TRANSCRIPTION OF INTERVIEW BY HERR HIMMLER OF PROFESSOR
H. KLEINBERG, CHAIRMAN OF THE SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE OF
SCIENCE BRANCH, GESTAPO, INVESTIGATING REPORT OF HERR
PROFESSOR JOHANN KENRUBE.

You have studied the drawings and examined the mathe-
matics?

Yes.

What is your conclusion?

We are unanimously agreed that some fraud is being
perpetrated.

Does your verdict relate to the drawings of the invention,
or to the mathematics explaining the theory?

To both. The drawings are incomplete. A machine made
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from those blueprints would hum with apparent power and
purpose, but it would be a fraudulent uproar; the power
simply goes oftener through a vacuumized circuit before
returning to its source,
Q. I have sent your report to Kenrube. His comment is that
almost the whole of modern electrical physics is founded
on some variaton of electricity being forced through a
vacuum. What about that?
It is a half truth.
What about the mathematics?
There is the real evidence. Since Descartes—
Please abstain from using these foreign names.
Pardon me, Since Llibriz, number has beer a function, a
variable idea. Kenrube treats of number as an existing thing.
Mathematics, he says, has living and being. You have to be
a scientist to realize how incredible, impossible, ridiculous,
such an idea is.

O PO P

WRITTEN COMMENT ON THE ABOVE

I am not a scientist. I have no set ideas on the subject of
mathematics or invention. I am, however, prepared to accept the
theory that Kenrube is withholding information, and for this
reason order that:

1. All further materials for the main machine be withheld.

2. Unlimited assistance be given Kenrube to build a model of
his machine in the great government laboratories at Dresden.
When, and not until, this model is in operation, permission will
be given for the larger machine to be completed.

3. Meanwhile, Gestapo scientists will examine the machine at
Gribe Schloss, and Gestapo construction experts will, if necessary,
reinforce the building, which must have been damaged by the
settling of the hill on which it stands.

4. Gestapo agents will hereafter guard Gribe Schloss.

Himmler.
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December 2, 1938

From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Herr Professor Kenrube

Inclosed is the quarterly précis of the reports of our Agent
Seventeen.
For your information, please.
August Buehnen

Author’s Note: Buehnen, a party man who was educated in one
of the Nazi two-year Science Schools, replaced G.L. as secretary
of the Bureau of Physics about September, 1938.

It is not known exactly what became of Lesser, who was a
strong party man. There was a Brigadier General G. Lesser, a
technical expert attached to the Fuehrer’s headquarters at
Smolensk. This man, and there is some evidence that he is the
same, was killed in the first battle of Moscow.

QUARTERLY PRECIS OF REPORTS
OF
AGENT SEVENTEEN

1. Herr Professor Kenrube is working hard on the model. He
bas at no time expressed bitterness over the enforced cessation
of work on the main machine, and apparently accepts readily
the explanation that the government cannot afford to allot him
material until the model proves the value of his work.
2. The model will have an orifice of six inches. This compares
with the ten-foot orifice of the main machine. Kenrube’s intention
is to employ it for the procuration of liquids, and believes that
the model will of itself go far to reducing the oil shortage in
the Reich,
3. The machine will be in operation sometime in the summer of
1939, We are all eager and excited.
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February 7, 1939

From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Gestapo
Subject Secret Six

The following precautions have been taken with the full
knowledge and consent of Herr Professor Kenrube:
1. A diary in triplicate is kept of each day’s progress. Two copies
are sent daily to our office here. As you know, the other copy is
submitted by us to your office.
2. Photographs are made of each part of the machine before it
is installed, and detailed plans of each part are kept, all in
triplicate, the copies distributed as described above.
3. From time to time independent scientists are called in. They
are invariably impressed by Kenrube’s name, and suspicious of
his mathematics and drawings.

For your information, please.

August Buehnen.

March 1, 1939
From  Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
To Herr Heinrich Himmler, Gestapo
Subject The great genius, Herr Professor Kenrube

It is my privilege to inform Your Excellency that the world-
shaking invention of Herr Professor Johann Kenrube went into
operation yesterday, and has already shown fantastic results.

The machine is not a pretty one, and some effort must be
made to streamline future reproductions of this model, with an
aim toward greater mobility. In its present condition, it is
strung out over the floor in a most ungainly fashion. Rough metal
can be very ugly.

Its most attractive feature is the control board, which consists
of a number of knobs and dials, the operator of which, by an
arrangement of mirrors, can peer into the orifice, which is located
on the right side of the control board, and faces away from it.
(I do not like these awkward names, orifice and hyper-space. We
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must find a great name for this wonderful machine and its vital
parts.)

When Buehnen and I arrived, Professor Kenrube was busy
opening and shutting little casements in various parts of that sea
of dull metal. He took out and examined various items.

At eleven forty-five, Kenrube stationed himself at the control
board, and made a brief speech comparing the locator dials of
the board to the dial on a radio which tunes in stations. His
dials, however, tuned in planets; and, quite simply, that is what
he proceeded to do.

It appears that the same planets are always on exactly the
same gradaton of the main dial; and the principle extends down
through the controls which operate to locate sections of planets.
Thus it is always possible to return to any point of any planet.
You will see how important this is.

The machine had already undergone its first tests, so Kenrube
now proceeded to turn to various planets previously selected;
and a fascinating show it was.

Gazing through the six-inch orifice is like looking through a
glassless window. What a great moment it will be when the
main machine is in operation, and we can go through the ten-
foot orifice.

The first planet was a desolate, frozen affair, dimly lighted
by a remote red sun. It must have been airless because there was a
whistling sound, as the air rushed out of our room into that
frigid space. Some of that deadly cold came trickling through,
and we quickly switched below the surface of the planet.

Fantastic planet! It must be an incredibly heavy world, for it
is a treasure house of the heavier metals. Everywhere we turned,
the soil formation showed a shifting pattern of gold, silver, zinc,
iron, tin—thousands of millions of tons.

At Professor Kenrube’s suggestion, I put on a pair of heavy
gloves, and removed a four-inch rock of almost pure gold. It
simply lay there in a gray shale, but it was so cold that the
moisture of the room condensed on it, forming a thick hoarfrost.
How many ages that planet must have frozen for the cold to
penetrate so far below the surface!

The second planet was a vast expanse of steaming swamps and

58



tropical forests, much as Earth must have been forty million
years ago. However, we found not a single trace of animal, insect,
reptile, or other non-floral life.

The third, fourth, and fifth planets were devoid of any kind
of life, either plant or animal. The sixth planet might have been
Earth, except that its green forests, its rolling plains showed no
sign of animal or intelligent life. But it is on this planet that oil
had been located by Kenrube and Seventeen in their private
tests. When I left, a pipe line, previously rigged up, had been
attached to the orifice, and was vibrating with oil at the colossal
flow speed of nearly one thousand miles per hour,

This immense flow has now been continuous for more than
twenty-four hours; and I understand it has already been neces-
sary to convert the great water reservoir in the south suburbs to
storage space for oil.

It may be nouveau riche to be storing oil at great inconveni-
ence, when the source can be tapped at will. But I personally
will not be satisfied until we have a number of these machines in
action. It is better to be childish and have the oil than logical and
have regrets,

I cannot conceive what could go wrong now. Because of our
precautions, we have numerous and complete plans of the
machines. It is necessary, of course, to ensure that our enemies
do not learn our secret, and on this point I would certainly
appreciate your most earnest attention.

The enormous potentialities of this marvelous instrument
expand with every minute spent in thinking about it. I scarcely
slept a wink last night.

March 1, 1939
From  Chief, Criminal Investigation Branch, Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject Secret Six

Will you please inform this office without delay of the name of
every scientist or other person who has any knowledge, however
meager, of the Kenrube machine?

Reinhard Heydrich
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Author’s Note: This is the Heydrich, handsome, ruthless
Heydrich, who in 1941 bloodily repressed the incipient Czech
revolt, who after the notorious Himmler became Minister of the
Interior, succeeded his former master as head of the Gestapo, and
who was subsequently assassinated.

March 2, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To R. Heydrich
Subject Secret Six

The list of names for which you asked is herewith attached.

August Buehnen

COMMENT AT BOTTOM OF LETTER

In view of the importance of this matter, some changes should
be made in the precautionary plan drawn up a few months ago
with respect to these personages. Two, not one, of our agents,
must be assigned to keep secret watch on each of these
individuals, The rest of the plan can be continued as arranged
with one other exception: In the event that any of these men
suspect that they are being watched, I must be informed at once.
I am prepared to explain to such person, within limits, the truth
of the matter, so that he may not be personally worried. The
important thing is we do not want these people suddenly to make

a run for the border.
Himmler.

SPECIAL DELIVERY
PERSONAL

From  Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
To Herr Heinrich Himmler
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube
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I this morning informed the Fuehrer of the Kenrube machine.
He became very excited. The news ended his indecision about
the Czechs. The army will move to occupy.

For your advance information, please.

March 13, 1939
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject The Dresden Explosion

The incredibly violent explosion of the Kenrube model must
be completely explained. A board of discovery should be set up
at Dresden with full authority. I must be informed day by day
of the findings of this court.

This is a very grim business. Your agent, Seventeen, is among
those missing. Kenrube is alive, which is very suspicious. There
is no question of arresting him; the only thing that matters is to
frustrate future catastrophes of this kind. His machine has
proved itself so remarkable that he must be conciliated at all
costs until we can be sure that everything is going right.

Let me know everything.

Himmler.

PRELIMINARY REPORT OF AUGUST BUEHNEN

When I arrived at the scene of the explosion, I noticed
immediately that a solid circle, a remarkably precise circle, of
the wall of the fifth floor of the laboratories—where the Kenrube
machine is located—had been sliced out as by some inconceivable
force.

Examining the edges of this circle, I verified that it could not
have been heat which performed so violent an operation.
Neither the brick nor the exposed steel was in any way singed or
damaged by fire.

The following facts have been given to me of what transpired:

It had been necessary to cut the flow of oil because of the
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complete absence of further storage space. Seventeen, who was
in charge—Professor Kenrube during this whole time was at
Gribe Schloss working on the main machine—was laboriously
exploring other planets in search of rare metals.

The following is an extract from my interview with Jacob
Schmidt, a trusted laboratory assistant in the government
service:

Q. You say, Herr—(Seventeen) took a piece of ore to the
window to examine it in the light of the sun?
He took it to the window, and stood there looking at it.
This placed him directly in front of the orifice of the
machine?

Yes.

Who else was in front of the orifice?

Dobelmanns, Minster, Freyburg, Tousand-freind.

These were all fellow assistaats of yours?
Yes.

What happened then?

There was a very loud click from the machine, followed by
a roaring noise,

Was anyone near the control board?

No, sir.

It was an automatic action of the machine?

Yes. The moment it happened we all turned to face the
machine,

All of you? Herr—(Seventeen), too?

Yes, he looked around with a start, just as Minster cried
out that a blue light was coming from the orifice.

A blue light. What did this blue light replace?
A soil formation of a planet, which we had numbered
447—711—Gradation A—131—8, which is simply its
location on the dials. It was from this soil that Herr—
(Seventeen) had taken the ore sample.

And then, just like that, there was the blue light?
Yes. And for a few instants that was all there was, the blue
light, the strange roaring sound, and us standing there half
paralyzed.
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Then it flared forth?

It was terrible. It was such an intense blue it hurt my eyes,
even though I could only see it in the mirror over the
orifice. I have not the faintest impression of heat. But the
wall was gone, and all the metal around the orifice.

And the men?

Yes, and the men, all five of them.

>0

o

March 18, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Dresden Explosion

I am inclosing a précis of the report of the Court of Inquiry,
which has just come to hand. The report will be sent to you as
soon as a transcription has been typed.

For your information, please.

August Buehnen

PRECIS OF REPORT OF COURT OF INQUIRY

1. Tt has been established :

(A) That the destruction was preceded by a clicking sound.
(B) That this click came from the machine.
(C) That the machine is fitted with automatic finders.

2. The blue flame was the sole final cause of the destruction.

3. No theory exists, or was offered, to explain the blue light. It
should be pointed out that Kenrube was not called to testify.

4. The death of Herr—(Seventeen) and of his assistants was
entirely due to the momentary impulse that had placed them
in the path of the blue fire. .

5. The court finds that the machine could have been tampered
with, that the click that preceded the explosion could have
been the result of some automatic device previously set to
tamper with the machine. No other evidence of sabotage
exists, and no one in the room at the time was to blame for the
accident.
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COPY ONLY
FOR MINISTRY OF SCIENCE March 19, 1939

From  Major H.L. Guberheit
To Minister for Air
Subject Destruction of plane, type JU-88

I have been asked to describe the destruction of a plane under
unusual circumstances, as witnessed by several hundred officers
and men under my command.

The JU-88, piloted by Cadet Pilot Herman Kiesler, was
approaching the runway for a landing, and was at the height of
about five hundred feet when there was a flash of intense blue—
and the plane vanished.

I cannot express too strongly the violence, the intensity, the
blue vastmess of the explosion. It was titanic. The sky was alive
with light reflections. And though a bright sun was shining, the
entire landscape grew brilliant with that blue tint.

There was no sound of explosion. No trace of this machine
was subsequently found, no wreckage. The time of the accident
was approximately ten thirty a.m., March 13th.

There has been great uneasiness among the students during
the past week.

For your information, please.

H. L. Guberheit
Major, C. Air Station 473

COMMENT AT BOTTOM OF LETTER

Excellency—I wish most urgently to point out that the time
of this unnatural accident coincides with the explosion of “blue”
light from the orifice of the Kenrube machine.

I have verified that the orifice was tilted ever so slightly
upward, and that the angle would place the beam at a height of
five hundred feet near the airport in question.

The staggering feature is that the airport referred to is
seventy-five miles from Dresden. The greatest guns ever
developed can scarcely fire that distance, and yet the incredible
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power of the blue energy showed no diminishment. Literally, it
disintegrated metal and flesh—everything.

I do pot dare to think what would have happened if that
devastating flame had been pointed not away from but at the
ground.

_ Let me have your instructions at once, because here is beyond
doubt the weapon of the ages.
' August Buehnen

March 19, 1939
From  Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject Secret Six

In perusing the report of the inquiry board, we were amazed
to note that Professor Kenrube was not questioned in this matter.
Be assured that there is no intention here of playing up to this
man. We absolutely require an explanation from him. Send Herr
Buehnen to see Kenrube and instruct him to employ the utmost
firmness if necessary.
K. Reissel

March 21, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Dresden Explosion

As per your request, I talked with Kenrube at Gribe Schloss.

It was the second time I had seen him, the first time being
when I accompanied his Excellency, the Minister of Science,
to Dresden to view the model; and I think I should point out
here that Herr Professor Kenrube’s physical appearance is very
different from what I had been led to expect from the description
recorded in File Secret Six. I had pictured him a lean, fanatic-
eyed type. He is tall, but he must have gained weight in recent
years, for his body is well filled out, and his face and eyes are
serene, with graying hair to crown the effect of a fine, scholarly,
middle-aged man,
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It is unthinkable to me that this is some madman plotting
against the Reich.

The first part of his explanation of the blue light was a most
curious reference to the reality of mathematics, and, for a
moment, I almost thought he was attempting to credit the
accident to this actuality of his incomprehensible number
system.

Then he went on to the more concrete statement that a great
star must have intruded into the plame of the planet under
examination. The roaring sound that was heard he attributed
to the fact that the component elements of the air in the labora-
tory were being sucked into the sun, and destroyed.

The sun, of course, would be in a state of balance all its own,
and therefore would not come into the room until the balance
had been interfered with by the air of the room.

(I must say my own explanation would be the reverse of this;
that is, the destruction of the air would possibly create a
momentary balance, a barrier, during which time nothing of the
sun came into the room except light reflections. However, the
foregoing is what Kenrube said, and I presume it is based on
his own mathematics. I can only offer it for what it is worth.)

Abruptly, the balance broke down. For a fraction of an instant,
then, before the model hyper-space machine was destroyed, the
intolerable energies of a blue-white sun poured forth.

It would have made no difference if the airplane that was
caught in the beam of blue light had been farther away from
Dresden than seventy-five miles—that measureless force would
have reached seven thousand five hundred miles just as easily, or
seventy-five thousand.

The complete absence of visible heat is no evidence that it was
not a sun, At forty million degrees Fahrenheit, heat, as we know
it, does not exist.

The great man went on to say that he had previously given
some thought to the danger from suns, and that in fact he was
in the late mathematical stage of developing an attachment that
would automatically reject bodies larger than ten thousand miles
in diameter.

In his opinion, efforts to control the titanic energies of suns
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should be left to a later period, and should be carried out on
uninhabited planets by scientists who have gone through the
orifice and who have been then cut off from contact with earth.

August Buehnen

COMMENT ATTACHED

Kenrube’s explanation sounds logical, and it does seem
incredible that he would meddle with such forces, though it is
significant that the orifice was tilted “slightly upward.” We can
dispense with his advice as to when and how we should experi-
ment with sun energies. The extent of the danger seems to be a
momentary discharge of inconceivable forces, and then destruc-
tion of the machine. If at the moment of discharge the orifice
was slightly tilted toward London or New York, and if a
sufficient crisis existed, the loss of one more machine would be
an infinitesimal cost.

As for Kenrube’s fine, scholarly appearance, I think Buehnen
has allowed himself to be carried away by the greatness of the
invention. The democrats of Germany are not necessarily
madmen, but here, as abroad, they are our remorseless enemies.

We must endeavor to soften Kenrube by psychological means.

I cannot forget that there is not now a working model of the
Kenrube machine in existence. Until there is, all the fine,
scholarly-looking men in the world will not convince me that
what happened was entirely an accident.

The deadly thing about all this is that we have taken an
irrevocable step with respect to the Czechs; and war in the west
is now inevitable.

Himmler

May 1, 1939
From  Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject Secret Six

The Fuehrer has agreed to exonerate completely August
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Kenrube, the brother of Herr Professor Kenrube. As you will
recall, August Kenrube was killed in the sacred purge of June,
1934, It will now be made clear that his death was an untimely
accident, and that he was a true German patriot.
This is in line with our psychological attack on Professor
Kenrube’s suspected anti-Nazism.
K. Reissel.

June 17, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube

In line with our policy to make Kenrube realize his oneness
with the community of German peoples, I had him address the
convention of mathematicians. The speech, of which I inclose a
copy, was a model one; three thousand words of glowing general-
ities, giving not a hint as to his true opinions on anything.
However, he received the ovation of his life; and I think he was
pleased in spite of himself.

Afterward, I saw to it—without, of course, appearing directly
—that he was introduced to Friulein Ilse Weber.

As you know, the Friulein is university educated, a mature,
modern young woman; and I am sure that she is merely taking
on one of the many facets of her character in posing to Kenrube
as a young woman who has decided quite calmly to have a
child, and desires the father to be biologically of the highest
type.

I cannot see how any human male, normal or abnormal, could
resist the appeal of Friulein Weber.

August Buehnen.

July 11, 1939
From  Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of physics
Subject  Secret Six

Can you give me some idea when the Kenrube machine will
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be ready to operate? What about the duplicate machines which
we agreed verbally would be built without Kenrube’s knowledge?
Great decisions are being made. Conversations are being
conducted that will shock the world, and, in a general way, the
leaders are relying on the Kenrube machine.

In this connection please submit as your own some variation
of the following memorandum. It is from the Fuehrer himself,
and therefore I need not stress its urgency.

K. Reissel.

MEMORANDUM OF ADOLF HITLER

Is it possible to tune the Kenrube machine to our own earth?

July 28, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Secret Six

I enclose the following note from Kenrube, which is self-
explanatory. We have retained a copy.
August Buehnen

NOTE FROM KENRUBE

Dear Herr Buehnen:

The answer to your memorandum is yes.

In view of the international anxieties of the times, I offer the
following suggestions as to weapons that can be devised from
the hyper-space machine:

1. Any warship can be rendered noncombatant at critical
moments by draining of its oil tanks.

2. Similarly, enemy oil-storage supplies can be drained at
vital points. Other supplies can be blown up or, if combustible,
set afire,

3. Troops, tanks, trucks, and all movable war materials can
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be transported to any point on the globe, behind enemy lines,
into cites, by the simple act of focussing the orifice at the desired
destination—and driving it and them through. I need scarcely
point out that my machine renders railway and steamship
transport obsolete. The world shall be transformed.

4. It might even be possible to develop a highly malleable,
delicately adjusted machine, which can drain the tanks of air-
planes in full flight.

5. Other possibilities, too numerous to mennon, suggest
themselves with the foregoing as a basis.

Kenrube.

COMMENT ATTACHED

This machine is like a dream. With it, the world is ours, for
what conceivable combination of enemies could fight an army
that appeared from nowhere on their flank, in the centers of
their cities, in London, New York, in the Middlewest plains of
America, in the Ural Mountains, in the Caucasus? Who can
resist us?

K. Reissel.

ADDITIONAL COMMENT

My dear Reissel:

Your enthusiasm overlooks the fact that the machine is still
only in the building stage. What worries me is that our hopes are
being raised to a feverish height—what greater revenge could
there be than to lift us to the ultimate peak of confidence, and
than smash it in a single blow?

Every day that passes we are involving ourselves more deeply,
decisions are being made from which there is already no turning
back. When, oh, when will this machine be finished ?

H.

July 29, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Psysics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Secret Six
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The hyper-space machine at Gribe Schloss will be completed
in February, 1941. No less than five duplicate machine are
under construction, unknown to Kenrube. What is done is that,
when he orders an installation for the Gribe Schloss machine,
the factory turns out five additional units from the same plans.

In addition, a dozen model machines are being secretly
constructed from the old plans, but, as they must be built
entirely from drawings and photographs, they will take not less,
but more, time to build than the larger machines.

August Buehnen

August 2, 1939
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Herr Heinrich Himmler
Subject Professor Johann Kenrube

I have just nmow received a telegram from Friulein Ilse
Weber that she and the Herr Professor were married this
morning, and that Kenrube will be a family man by the middle
of next summer.

August Buehnen

COMMENT WRITTEN BELOW

This is great news indeed. One of the most dangerous aspects
of the Kenrube affair was that he was a bachelor without ties.
Now, we have him. He has committed himself to the future.

Himmler.

FURTHER COMMENT

I have advised the Fuehrer, and our great armies will move
into Poland at the end of this month.
H.
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August 8, 1939
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject  Secret Six

I have had second thought on the matter of Friulein Ilse
Weber, now Frau Kenrube, In view of the fact that a woman, no
matter how intelligent or objective, becomes emotionally involved
with the man who is the father of her children. I would advise
that Frau Kenrube be appointed to some great executive post in
a war industry. This will keep her own patriotism at a high level,
and thus she will continue to have exemplary influence on her
husband. Such influence cannot be overestimated.

Himmler.

January 3, 1940

From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo

In glancing through the correspondence, I notice that I have
neglected to inform you that our Agent Twelve has replaced
Seventeen as Kenrube’s chief assistant.

Twelve is a graduate of Munich, and was for a time attached
to the General Staff in Berlin as a technical expert.

In my opinion, he is a better man for our purpose than was
Seventeen, in that Seventeen, it seemed to me, had toward the
end a tendency to associate himself with Kenrube in what might
be called a scientific comradeship, and intellectual fellowship.
He was in a mental condition where he quite unconsciously
defended Kenrube against our suspicion.

Such a situation will not arise with Twelve. He is a practical
man to the marrow. He and Kenrube have nothing in common.

Kenrube accepted Twelve with an attitude of what-does-it-
matter-who-they-send. It was so noticeable that it is now clear
that he is aware that these men are agents of ours.

Unless Kenrube has some plan of revenge which is beyond all
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precautions, the knowledge that he is being watched should
exercise a restraint on any impulses to evil that he may have.

August Buehnen.

Author’s Note: Most of the letters written in the year 1940
were of a routine nature, consisting largely of detailed reports as
to the progress of the machine. The following document, how-
ever, was an exception:

December 17, 1940
From  Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
To Herr Heinrich Himmler
Subject  Secret Six

The following work has now been completed on the fortress
Gribe Schloss, where the Kenrube machine is nearing
completion:

1. Steel doors have been fitted throughout.

2. A special, all-steel chamber had been constructed, from
which, by an arrangement of mirrors, the orifice of the machine
can be watched without danger to the watchers.

3. This watching post is only twenty steps from a paved road
which runs straight up out of the valley.

4. A concrete pipe line for the transportation of oil is
nearing completion.

August Buehnen.

MEMO AT BOTTOM OF LETTER

To Reinhard Heydrich:

Please make arrangements for me to inspect personally the
reconstructed Gribe Schloss. It is Hitler’s intention to attend the
official opening.

The plan now is to invade England via the Kenrube machine
possibly in March, not later than April. In view of the confusion
that will follow the appearance of vast armies in every part of
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the country, this phase of the battle of Europe should be com-
pleted by the end of April.

In May, Russia will be invaded. This should not require more
than two months, The invasion of the United States is set for
July or August.

Himmler.

January 31, 1941
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
Subject Secret Six

It will be impossible to complete the five extra Kenrube
machines at the same time as the machine at Gribe Schloss.
Kenrube has changed some of the designs, and our engineers do
not know how to fit the sections together until they have
studied Kenrube’s method of connection.

I have personally asked Kenrube the reason for the changes.
His answer was that he was remedying weaknesses that he had
noticed in the model. I am afraid that we shall have to be
satisfied with this explanation, and complete the duplicate
machines after the official opening, which is not now scheduled
until March 20th. The delay is due to Kenrube’s experimentation
with design.

If you have any suggestions, please let me hear them. I
frankly do not like this delay, but what to do about it is another
matter.

August Buehnen,

February 3, 1941
From  Chief, Science Branch, Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of Physics
Subject Secret Six

Himmler says to do nothing, He notes that you are still taking
the precaution of daily photographs, and that your agent,
Twelve, who replaced Seventeen, is keeping a diary in triplicate.
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There has been a meeting of leaders, and this whole matter
discussed very thoroughly, with special emphasis on critical
analysis of the precautions taken, and of the situation that would
exist if Kenrube should prove to be planning some queer
revenge,

You will be happy to know that not a single additional
precaution was thought of, and that our handling of the affair
was commended.

K. Reissel.

February 18, 1941
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject  Secret Six

In view of our anxieties, the following information, which I
have just received, will be welcome:

Frau Kenrube, formerly our Ilse Weber, has reserved a private
room in the maternity ward of the Prussian State Hospital for
May 7th. This will be her second child, another hostage to
fortune by Kenrube,

K. Reissel.

'COPY ONLY
MEMO March 11, 1941

I have today examined Gribe Schloss and environs and found
everything according to plan,
Himmler

March 14, 1941
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Herr Himmler, Gestapo
Subject Secret Six

You will be relieved to know the reason for the changes in
design made by Kenrube.
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The first reason is rather unimportant; Kenrube refers to the
mathematical structure involved, and states that, for his own
elucidation, he designed a functional instrument whose sole
purpose was to defeat the mathematical reality of the machine.
This is very obscure, but he had referred to it before, so I call
it to your attention.

The second reason is that there are now two orifices, not one.
The additional orifice is for focusing. The following illustration
will clarify what I mean:

Suppose we had a hundred thousand trucks in Berlin, which
we wished to transfer to London. Under the old method, these
trucks would have to be driven all the way to the Gribe
Schloss before they could be transmitted.

With the new two-orifice machine, one orifice would be focused
in Berlin, the other in London. The trucks would drive through
from Berlin to London.

Herr Professor Kenrube seems to anticipate our needs
before we realize them ourselves.

August Buehnen.

March 16, 1941
From  Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of Physics
Subject  Secret Six

The last sentence of your letter of March 14th to the effect
that Kenrube seems to anticipate our needs made me very
uncomfortable, because the thought that follows naturally is: Is
he also anticipating our plans?

I have accordingly decided at this eleventh hour that we
are dealing with a man who may be our intellectual superior in
every way. Have your agent advise us the moment the machine
has undergone its initial tests. Decisive steps will be taken
immediately.

Himmler.
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March 19, 1941
DECODED TELEGRAM

KENRUBE MACHINE WAS TESTED TODAY AND WORKED
PERFECTLY.
AGENT TWELVE.

COPY ONLY
MEMO March 19, 1941

To Herr Himmler:

This is to advise that Professor Johann Kenrube was placed
under close arrest, and has been removed to Gestapo Head-

quarters, Berlin.
R. Heydrich.

March 19, 1941
DECODED TELEGRAM

REPLYING TO YOUR TELEPHONE INSTRUCTIONS, WISH TO
STATE ALL AUTOMATIC DEVICES HAVE BEEN REMOVED FROM
KENRUBE MACHINE. NONE SEEMED TO HAVE BEEN TAMPERED
WITH. MADE PERSONAL TEST OF MACHINE. IT WORKED PER-

FECTLY.
TWELVE

COMMENT WRITTEN BELOW

I shall recommend that Kenrube be retired under guard to his
private laboratories, and not allowed near a hyper-space machine
until after the conquest of the United States.

And with this, I find myself at a loss for further precautions.
In my opinion, all thinkable possibilities have been covered.
The only dangerous man has been removed from the zone
where he can be actively dangerous; a careful examination has
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been made to ascertain that he has left no automatic devices that
will cause havoc. And, even if he has, five other large machines
and a dozen small ones are nearing completion, and it is impos-~
sible that he can have tampered with them.

If anything goes wrong now, thoroughness is a meaningless
word.

Himmler.

March 21, 1941
From  Gestapo
To Secretary, Bureau of Physics
Subject Secret Six

Recriminations are useless. What I would like to know is:

What in God’s name happened?
Himmler.

March 22, 1941
From  Secretary, Bureau of Physics
To Herr Heinrich Himmler
Subject Secret Six

The reply to your question is being prepared. The great
trouble is the confusion among the witnesses, but it should not
be long before some kind of coherent reply is ready.

Work is being rushed to complete the duplicate machines on
the basis of photographs and plans that were made from day to
day. I cannot see how anything can be wrong in the long run.

As for Number One, shall we send planes over with bombs?

August Buehnen.
COPY ONLY
MEMO March 23, 1941
From  Detention Branch, Gestapo

The four agents, Gestner, Luslich, Heinreide, and Muemmer,
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who were guarding Herr Professor Johann Kenrube, report that
he was under close arrest at our Berlin headquarters until six
p.m., March 21st. At six p.m., he abruptly vanished.

S. Duerner

COMMENT WRITTEN BELOW

Kenrube was at Gribe Schloss before two p.m., March 21st.
This completely nullifies the six p.m. story. Place these
scoundrels under arrest, and bring them before me at eight
o’clock tonight,

Himmler.

COPY ONLY
EXAMINATION BY HERR HIMMLER OF F. GESTNER

Q. Your name?

A.  Gestner. Fritz Gestner. Long service.

Q. Silence. If we want to know your service, we’ll check it in
the record.

A. Yes, sir.

Q. That’s a final warning. You answer my questions, or I'l
have your tongue.

A. Yes, sir,

Q. You're one of the stupid fools set to guard Kenrube?

A. " 1 was one of the four guards, sir.

Q. Answer yes or no.

A. Yes,sir,

Q. What was your method of guarding Kenrube?

A. By twos. Two of us at a time were in the great white cell
with him.

Q. Why weren’t the four of you there?

A. We thought—

Q.

You thought! Four men were ordered to guard Kenrube
and—By God, there’ll be dead men around here before this
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night is over. I want to get this clear: There was never a
moment when two of you were not in the cell with
Kenrube?
Always two of us.
Which two were with Kenrube at the moment he dis-
appeared ?
I was. I and Johann Luslich,
Oh, you know Luslich by his first name, An old friend of
yours, I suppose?
No, sir.
You knew Luslich previously, though?
I met him for the first time when we were assigned to guard
Herr Kenrube.
Silence! Answer yes or no. I've warned you about that.
Yes, sir.
Ah, you admit knowing him?
No, sir.-I meant—
Look here, Gestner, you’re in a very bad spot. Your story
is a falsehood on the face of it. Tell me the truth, Who are
your accomplices?
None, sir.
You mean you were working this alone?
No, sir.
You damned liar| Gestner, we’ll get the truth out of you if
we have to tear you apart.
I am telling the truth, Excellency.
Silence, you scum. What time did you say Kenrube
disappeared?
About six o’clock.
Oh, he did, eh? Well, never mind that. What was Kenrube
doing just before he vanished?
He was talking to Luslich and me.
What right had you to talk to the prisoner?
Sir, he mentioned an accident he expected to happen at
some official opening somewhere.
He what?
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A. Yes, sir; and I was desperately trying to find out where, o
that I could send a warmng

Q. Now, the truth is coming. So you do know about this
business, you lying rat! Well, let’s have the story you've
rigged up.

A. The dictaphone will bear out every word.

Q. Oh, the dictaphone was on.

A. Every word is recorded.

Q. Oh, why wasn’t I told about this in the first place?

A. You wouldn’t lis—

Q. Silence, you fool! By God, the codperation I get around
this place. Never mind. Just what was Kenrube doing at the
moment he disappeared?

A. He was sitting—talking.

Q. Siuing? You'll swear to that?

A. To the Fuehrer himself,

Q. He didn’t move from his chair? He didn’t walk over to an
orifice?

A. Idon’t know what you mean, Excellency.

Q. So you pretend, anyway. But that’s all for the time being.

You will remain under arrest. Don’t think we’re through
with you, That goes also for the others.

AUTHOR’S NOTE:

The bafflled fury expressed by the normally calm Himmler
in this interview is one indication of the dazed bewilderment that
raged through high Nazi circles. One can imagine the accusation
and counter-accusation and then the slow, deadly realization
of the situation.

March 24, 1941
From  Gestapo
To Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
Subject  Secret Six

Inclosed is the transcription of a dictaphone record which was
made by Professor Kenrube. A careful study of these deliberate
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words, combined with what he said at Gribe Schloss, may reveal
his true purpose, and may also explain the incredible thing
that happened.

I am anxiously awaiting your full report.

Himmler.

TRANSCRIPTION OF DICTAPHONE RECORD P-679-423-1; CON-
VERSATION OF PROFESSOR JOHANN KENRUBE IN WHITE CELL
26, ON 3/21/41,

RONOA

A o
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@

(Note: K. refers to Kenrube, G. to any of the guards.)

A glass of water, young man..

I believe there is no objection to that. Here.

It must be after five.

There is no necessity for you to know the time.

No, but the fact that it is late is very interesting. You see, I

have invented a machine, A very queer machine it is

going to seem when it starts to react according to the laws

of real as distinct from functional mathematics. You have

the dictaphene on, I hope?

What kind of a smart remark is that? A

Young man, that dictaphone had better be on. I intend

talking about my invention, and your masters will skin you

alive if it’s not recorded. Is the dictaphone on?

Oh, I suppose so.

Good. I may be able to finish what I have to say. I may not.

Don’t worry. You’ll be here to finish it. Take your time,

I had the idea before my brother was killed in the purge,

but I thought of the problem then as ome of education.

Afterward, I saw it as revenge. I hated the Nazis and all

they stood for.

Oh, you did, eh? Go on.

My plan after my brother’s murder was to build for the

Nazis the greatest weapon the world will ever know, and

then have them discover that only I, who understood and

who accordingly fitted in with the immutable laws involved

—only I could ever operate the machine. And I would
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bave to be present physically. That way I would prove my
indispensability and so transform the entire world to my
way of thinking.
We’ve got ways of making indispensables work.
Oh, that part is past. I’ve discovered what is going to happen
—to me as well as to my invention.
Plenty is going to happen to you. You've already talked
yourself into a concentration camp.
After I discovered that, my main purpose was simplified.
I wanted to do the preliminary work on the machine and,
naturally, I had to do that under the prevailing system cf
government—by cunning and misrepresentation. I had no
fear that any of the precautions they were so laboriously
taking would give them the use of the machine, not this
year, not this generation, not ever. The machine simply
cannot be used by people who think as they do. For instance,
the model that—
Model! What are you talking about?
Silence, please. I am anxious to clarify for the dictaphone
what will seem obscure enough under any circumstances.
The reason the model worked perfectly was because I fitted
in mentally and physically. Even after I left, it continued
to carry out the task I had set it, but as soon as Herr—
(Seventeen) made a change, it began to yield to other
pressures. The accident—
Accident!
Will you shut up? Can’t you see that I am trying to give
information for the benefit of future generations? I have no
desire that my secret be lost. The whole thing is in under-
standing. The mechanical part is only half the means. The
mental approach is indispensable. Even Herr—(Seventeen),
who was beginning to be sympathique could not keep the
machine sane for more than an hour. His death, of course,
was inevitable, whether it looked like an accident or not.
Whose death?
What it boils down to is this. My invention does not fit into
our civilization. It’s the next, the coming age of man. Just
as modern science could not develop in ancient Egypt
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because the whole mental, emotional, and physical attitude
was wrong, so my machine cannot be used until the thought
structure of man changes. Your masters will have some
further facts soon to bear me out.
G. Look! You said something before about something
happening. What?
I’ve just been telling you: I don’t know. The law of aver-
ages says it won’t be another sun, but there are a thousand
deadly things that can happen. When Nature’s gears snag,
no imaginable horror can match the result.
But something is going to happen?
I really expected it before this. The official opening was set
for half-past one. Of course, it doesn’t really matter. If it
doesn’t happen today, it will take place tomorrow.
G. Official opening! You mean an accident is going to happen
at some official opening?
Yes, and my body will be attracted. I—
What— Good God! He’s gone!

~o

oR

(Confusion. Voices no longer audible.)

March 25, 1941
From  Reich and Prussian Minister of Science
To Herr Himmler
Subject Destruction of Gribe Sckloss

The report is still not ready. As you were not present, I have
asked the journalist, Polermann, who was with Hitler, to write
a description of the scene, His account is inclosed, with the first
page omitted.

You will note that in a number of paragraphs he reveals
incomplete knowledge of the basic situation, but except for this,
his story is, I believe, the most accurate we have,

The first page of his article was inadvertently destroyed. It
was simply a preliminary.

For your information.
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DESCRIPTION OF DESTRUCTION OF Gribe Schloss BY HERR
POLERMANN

—The first planet came in an unexpected fashion. I realized
that as I saw Herr—(Twelve) make some hasty adjustments on
one of his dials.

Still dissatisfied, he connected a telephone plug into a socket
somewhere in his weird-looking asbestos suit, thus establishing
telephone communication with the Minister of Science, who was
in the steel inclosure with us. I heard His Excellency’s reply:

“Night! Well, I suppose it has to be night some time on other
planets. You’re not sure it’s the same planet? I imagine the
darkness is confusing.”

It was. In the mirror, the night visible through thé orifice
showed a bleak, gray, luminous landscape, incredibly eerie and
remote, an unnatural world of curious shadows, and not a sign of
movement anywhere.

And that, after an mstant, struck us all with an appallmg
effect, the dark consciousness of that great planet, swinging
somewhere around a distant sun, an uninhabited waste, a lonely
reminder that life is rarer than death in the vast universe. Herr
—(Twelve) made an adjustment on a dial; and, instantly, the
great orifice showed that we were seeing the interior of the
planet. A spotlight switched on, and picked out a solid line of
red earth that slowly, as the dial turned, became clay; then a
rock stratum came into view, and was held in focus.

An asbestos-clothed assistant of Herr—(Twelve) dislodged
a piece of rock with a pick. He lifted it, and started to bring it
toward the steel inclosure, apparently for the Fuehrer’s
inspection,

And abruptly vanished.

We blinked our eyes. But he was gone, and the rock with him.
Herr—(Twelve) switched on his telephone hurriedly. There was
a consultation, in which the Fuehrer participated. The decision
finally was that it had been a mistake to examine a doubtful
planet, and that the accident had happened because the rock had
been removed. Accordingly, no further effort would be made
to remove anything.
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Regret was expressed by the Fuehrer that the brave assistant
should have suffered such a mysterious fate.

We resumed our observant positions, more alert now, con-
scious of what a monstrous instrument was here before our eyes.
A man whisked completely out of our space simply because he
had touched a rock from a planet in hyper-space.

The second planet was also dark. At first it, too, looked a
barren world, enveloped in night; and then—wonder. Against
the dark, towering background of a great hill, a city grew. It
spread along the shore of a moonlit sea, ablaze with ten million
lights. It clung there for a moment, a crystalline city, alive with
brilliant streets. Then it faded. Swiftly it happened. The lights
seemed literally to slide off into the luminous sea. For a moment,
the black outline of the city remained, then that, too, vanished
into the shadows. Astoundingly, the hill that had formed an
imposing background for splendor, distorted like a picture out
of focus, and was gone with the city.

A flat, night-wrapped beach spread where a moment before
there had been a world of lights, a city of another planet, the
answer to ten million questions about life on other worlds—gone
like a secret wind into the darkness.

It was plain to see that the test, the opening, was not according
to schedule. Once more, Herr—(Twelve) spoke through the
telephone to His Excellency, the Minister of Science.

His Excellency turned to the Fuehrer, and said, “He states
that he appears to have no control over the order of appearance.
Not once has he been able to tune in a planet which he had
previously selected to show you.”

There was another consultation. It was decided that this
second planet, though it had reacted in an abnormal manner, had
not actually proved dangerous. Therefore, one more attempt
would be made. No sooner was this decision arrived at, than
there was a very distinctly audible click from the machine. And,
though we did not realize it immediately, the catastrophe was
upon us,

I cannot describe the queer loudness of that clicking from the
machine, It was not a metallic noise. I have since been informed
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that only an enormous snapping of energy in motion could have
made that unusual, unsettling sound.

My own sense of uneasiness was quickened by the sight of
Herr—(Twelve) frantically twisting dials. But nothing happened
for a few seconds. The planet on which we had seen the city
continued to hold steady in the orifice. The darkened beach
spread there in the half-light shed by a moon we couldn’t see.
And then—

A figure appearred in the orifice. I cannot recall all my
emotions at the sight of that manlike being. There was a wild
thought that here was some supercreature who, dissatisfied with
the accidents he had so far caused us, was now come to complete
our destruction. That thought ended as the figure came out onto
the floor and one of the assistants swung a spotlight on him. The
light revealed him as a tall, well-built handsome man, dressed in
ordinary clothes.

Beside me, I heard someone exclaim: “Why, it’s Professor
Kenrube!”

For most of those present, everything must have, in that instant,
been clear. I, however, did not learn until later that Kenrube was
one of the scientists assigned to assist Herr—(Twelve) in building
the machine, and that he turned out to be a traitor. He was
suspected in the destruction of an earlier model, but as there was
no evidence and the suspicion not very strong, he was permitted
to continue his work.

Suspicion had arisen again a few days previously, and he had
been confined to his quarters, from whence, apparently, he had
now come forth to make sure that his skillful tampering with the
machine had worked out. This, then, was the man who stood
before us. My impression was that he should not have been
allowed. to utter his blasphemies, but I understand the leaders
were anxious to learn the extent of his infamy, and thought he
might reveal it in his speech. Although I do not profess to under-
stand the gibberish, I have a very clear memory of what was said,
and set it down here for what it is worth.

Kenrube began: “I have no idea how much time I have, and
as T was unable to- explain clearly to the dictaphone all that I
had to say, I must try to finish here.” He went on, “I am not
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thinking now in terms of revenge, though God knows my brother
was very dear to me. But I want the world to know the way of
this invention,” ‘

The poor fool seemed to be laboring under the impression that
the machine was his. I did not, and do not, understand his
reference to a dictaphone. Kenrube went on:

“My first inkling came through psychology, the result of
meditating on the manner in which the soil of different parts of
the earth influences the race that lives there. This race-product
was always more than simply the end-shape of a seacoast, or a
plains, or a mountain environment. Somehow, beneath adapta-
tions, peculiar and unsuspected relationships existed between
the properties of matter and the phenomena of life. And so my
search was born. The idea of revenge came later.

I might say that in all history there has never been a revenge
as complete as mine. Here is your machine. It is all there; yours
to use for any purpose—provided you first change your mode of
thinking to conform to the reality of the relationship between
matter and life,

“I have no doubt you can build a thousand duplicates, but
beware—every machine will be a Frankenstein monster. Some
of them will distort time, as seems to have happened in the time
of my arrival here. Others will feed you raw material that will
vanish even as you reach forth to seize it. Sdll others will. pour
obscene things into our green earth; and others will blaze with
terrible energies, but you will never know what is coming, you
will never satisfy a single desire.

“You may wonder why everything will go wrong. Herr—
(Twelve) has, I am sure, been able to make brief, successful
tests. That will be the result of my earlier presence, and will not
recur now that so many alien presences have affected its—
sanity |

“It is pot that the machine has will. It reacts to laws, which
you must learn, and in the learning it will reshape your minds,
your outlook on life. It will change the world. Long before that,
of course, the Nazis will be destroyed. They have taken irrevoc-
able steps that will insure their destruction.
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“Revenge! Yes, I have it in the only way that a decent human
being could desire it. I ask any reasonable being how else these
murderers could be wiped from the face of the earth, except by
other nations, who would never act until they had acted first?

“I have only the vaguest idea what the machine will do with
me—it matters not. But I should like to ask you, my pgreat
Fuehrer, one question: Where now will you obtain your raw
material ?”

He must have timed it exactly. For, as he finished, his figure
dimmed. Dimmed! How else describe the blur that his body
became? And he was gone, merged with the matter with which,
he claimed, his life force was attuned.

The madman had one more devastating surprise for us. The
dark planet, from which the city had disappeared, was abruptly
gone from the orifice. In its place appeared another dark world.
As our vision grew accustomed to this new night, we saw that
this was a world of restless water; to the remote, dim horizon
was a blue-black, heaving sea. The machine switched below the
surface, It must have been at least ten hellish miles below it,
judging from the pressure, I have since been informed.

There was a roar that seemed to shake the earth.

Only those who were with the Fuehrer in the steel room suc-
ceeded in escaping. Twenty feet away a great army truck stood
with engines churning—it was not the first time that I was
thankful that some car engines are always left running wherever
the Fuehrer is present.

The water swelled and surged around our wheels as we
raced up the newly paved road, straight up out of the valley. It
was touch and go. We looked back in sheer horror. Never in the
world has there been such a titanic torrent, such a whirlpool.

The water rose four hundred feet in minutes, threatened to
overflow the valley sides, and then struck a balance. The great
new river is still there, raging toward the Eastern Sea.

Author’s Note: This is not quite the end of the file. A few
more letters exist, but it is unwise to print more, as it might be
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possible for the GPU to trace the individual who actudlly
removed the filz Secret Six from its cabinet.

It is scarcely necessary to point out that we subsequently saw
the answer that Hitler made to Professor Kenrube's question.
“W here now will you obtain your raw materials?”’

On June 22nd, three months almost to the day after the
destruction of Gribe Schloss, the Nazis began their desperate
invasion of Russia. By the end of 1941, their diplomacy bankrupt,
they were at war with the United States.



THE HARMONIZER

AFTER it had sent two shoots out of the ground, the ibis plant
began to display the true irritability of intelligent living matter.
It became aware that it was growing.

The awareness was a dim process, largely influenced by the
chemical reaction of air and light upon the countless membranes
that formed its life structure. Tiny beads of acid were precipi-
tated on these delicate colloidal films. The rhythm of pain-
pleasure that followed surged down the root.

It was a very early stage in the development of an ibis plant.
Like a new-born puppy, it reacted to stimuli. But it had no
purpose as yet, and no thought. And it did not even remember
that it had been alive previously.

Slash! Snip! The man’s hoe caught the two silvery shoots and
severed them about two inches below the ground.

“I thought I’d got all the weeds out of this border,” said the
man.

His name was Wagnowski, and he was a soldier scheduled to
leave for the front the next day. He didn’t actually use the
foregoing words, but the gist of his imprecation is in them.

The ibis plant was not immediately aware of what had
happened. The series of messages that had begun when the first
shoot pushed up through the soil were still trickling down the
root, leaving the impact of their meaning on each of a multitude
of colloidal membranes. This impact took the form of a tiny
chemical reaction, which in its small way caused a sensation.

Instant by instant, as those messages were transmitted by the
slow electricity that obtained in the membranous films, the ibis
plant came more alive. And tiny though each chemical conscious-
ness was in itself, no subsequent event could cancel it in the
slightest degree.

The plant was alive, and knew it. The hoeing out of its shoots
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and the upper part of its root merely caused a second wave of
reactions to sweep downward. The chemical effect of this second
wave was apparently the same as the earlier reaction: Beads of
acid composed of not more than half a dozen molecules each
formed on the colloid particles. The reaction seemed the same,
but it wasn’t. Before, the plant had been excited, almost eager,
Now, it grew angry.

-After the manner of plants, the results of this reaction were not
at once apparent. The ibis made no immediate attempt to push
up more shoots. But on the third day a very curious thing started
to happen. The root near the surface came alive with horizontal
sub-roots. These pushed along in the soil darkness, balancing by
the simple process of being aware, like all plants, of gravitation.

On the eighth day one of the new roots contacted the root of
a shrub, and began to wind in and around it. Somehow, then, a
relation was established, and on the fifteenth day a second set of
shoots forced the soil at the base of the shrub and emerged into
the light, The radical, the astounding thing about this second set
of shoots was that they were not of a silvery hue. They were a
dark green. In color, shape, and texture the leaves, as they
developed, seemed more and more exact duplicates of the leaves
of the shrub.

Rapidly the new shoots shot up. As the weeks sped by, the
“fear” that had induced chameleonism faded, and the leaves
reverted to their silver color. Slowly, the plant became conscious
of human and animal thoughts. But not until two hundred days
later did the ibis begin to show its basic sensitivity. The reaction
which followed was as potent and far reaching as had been the
results of that same sensitivity in its previous existence.

That was eighty million years before.

The ship, with the ibis plants aboard, was passing through
the solar system when the catastrophe occurred.

It came down onto an earth of marsh, fog, and fantastic
reptilian monsters. It came down hard and out of control. Its
speed as it struck the thick atmosphere was approximately
colossal. And there was absolutely nothing that the superbeings
aboard could do about it
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What had happened was a precipitation of the matter held in
suspension in the drive chambers. As a result of condensation,
the crystalloids in the sub-microscopic twilight zone above the
molecule state lost surface area. Surface tensions weakened to
a tenth, a hundredth, a thousandth of what was necessary. And
at that moment, by the wildest accident, the ship passed near
Earth and tangled with the dead mass of the gigantic planet’s
magnetic field.

Poor shipl poor beings! Crashed now, dead now nearly
eighty thousand years.

All that day and night, remnants of the ship burned and fused,
and flared again in a white, destroying incandescence. When that
first fire-shattered darkness ended, not much remained of what
had been a mile-long liner. Here and there over the cretaceous
land and water and primeval forest, unburnt sections lay, jagged
lumps of metal rearing up toward the perpetually muggy heavens,
their lower parts sunk forever into a thick, fetid soil that would
eat and eat at their strength until at last, the metal defeated, its
elements would dissolve into earth and become earth.

Long before that happened, the ibis that were still alive had
reacted to the dampness, and sent creepers out over the broken
metal of what had been their culture room, out towards the
gaping holes that opened into the soil. There had been three
hundred plants, but in that last terrible period before the crash
some effort had been made to destroy them.

Altogether, eighty-three ibis survived the deliberate attempt
at their destruction; and among them there was a deadly race to
take root. Those that came last knew instinctively that they had
better move on. Of these latter, weakened by an injury in the
crash, was the ibis. It reached the life-giving earth last of all.
There followed a painful and timeless period- when its creepers
and its roots forced their way among the massed tangle of its
struggling fellows towards the remote edge of the gathering
forest of silver shrubs. ’

But it got there. It lived. And, having survived, having taken
possession of a suitable area in which to develop without inter-
ference, it lost its feverishness, and expanded into a gracious,
silver-hued tree.
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A hundred, a hundred and fifty, two hundred feet tall it
grew. And then, mature and satsfied, it settled down to eternal
existence in a grotesque yet immensely fertile land. It had no
thought. It lived and enjoyed and experienced existence. For a
thousand years no acid beads formed on its colloidal membranes
except the acids of reaction to light, heat, water, air, and other
extrania of simply being alive.

The idyllic life was interrupted one gray soggy morning by a
dull but tremendous thunder and a shaking of the ground. It
was no minor earthquake. Continents shook in the throes of
rebirth. Oceans rushed in where there had been land; and land
surged wetly out of the warm seas. There had been a wide
expanse of deep marsh water separating the forest of ibis trees
from the mainland. When the shuddering of the tortured planet
ended in the partial stability of that uneasy age, the marsh was
joined to the distant higher ground by a long, bare, hill-like
ridge.

At first it was merely mud, but it dried and hardened. Grass
sprouted and shrubs made a tangle of parts of it. Trees came
up from drift seed. The young growth raced for the sky, and
simultaneously waged a bitter battle for space, but all that was
unimportant beside the fact that the ridge existed. The gap that
isolated the ibis had been bridged. The new state of things was
not long in manifesting. One dmeless day a creature stamped
boldly along the height, a creature with a rigidly upheld armored
tail, teeth like knives, and eyes that glowed like fire with the fury
of unending bestial hunger.

Thus came Tyrannosaurus Rex to the peaceful habitat of the
ibis, and awakened from a latent condition a plant that had
been cultivated and developed by its creators for one purpose only.

Animals were no new thing to the ibis trees. The surrounding
marshes swarmed with great placid vegetarians. Gigantic snakes
crawled among the ferns at the water’s edge, and writhed
through the muddy waters. And there was an endless scurrying
of young, almost mindless beasts in and out among the silver
trees.

It was a world of hungry life, but the hunger was for vegeta-
tion, or for living things that were scarcely more than plants,
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for the long, lush marsh grass, the leaf-laden shrubs, the soggy
roots of water plants and the plants themselves, for primitive fish,
for wriggling things that had no awareness of pain or even of
their fate. In the quiet torpor of their existence, the plant-eating
reptiles and amphibians were little more than Gargantuan plants
that could move about.

The most enormous of all these well-behaved creatures, the
long-necked, long-tailed brontosaurus, was eating of the generous
leaves of a tall fern on the morning that the flesh-eating dinosaur
walked onto the scene with all the tact of a battering ram.

The struggle that followed was not altogether one-sided. The
brontosaurus had, above everything else, weight and a desire to
escape, something that proved especially difficult because
Tyrannosaurus Rex had his amazing teeth sunk into the thick
lower part of the big fellow’s neck, and also, he had dug his
claws into the thick meat of the great side to which he was
clinging. Movement for the brontosaurus was limited by the
necessity of carrying along the multi-ton dinosaur.

Like a drunken giant, the great beast staggered blindly toward
the marsh water. If it saw the ibis tree, it was a visualization
that meant nothing. The crash knocked the brontosaurus off its
feet, a virtual death sentence for a creature that, even under the
most favorable circumstances, required ten minutes to stand up.
In a few minutes, the dinosaur administered the coup de grice,
and, with a slobbering bloody ferocity, started gorging.

It was still at this grisly meal half an hour later when the ibis
began reacting in a concrete fashion.

The initial reactions had begun almost the moment the
dinosaur arrived in the vicinity. Every sensitive colloid of the
tree caught the blasts of palpable lusts radiated by the killer.
The thought waves of the beast were emitted as a result of surface
tensions on the membranes of its embryo brain; and as these were
electric in nature, their effect on the delicately balanced films of
the ibis’s membranes was to set off a feverish manufacture of
acids. Quadrillions of the beads formed; and, though once
again they seemed no different from similar acids created as a
result of other irritants, the difference began to manifest itself
half an hour after the brontosaurus grunted its final agony.
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The ibis tree and its companions exuded a fragrance in the
form of billions on billions of tiny dust motes. Some of these
motes drifted down to the dinosaur, and were gulped into its
lungs from where, in due course, they were absorbed into its
bloodstream.

The response was not instantly apparent. After several hours,
the dinosaur’s gigantic stomach was satiated. It stalked off to
wallow and sleep in a mudhole, quickly made extra-odorous by
its own enormous droppings and passings, a process that
continued as easily in sleep as during consciousness.

Waking, it had no difficulty scenting the unrefrigerated meat
of its recent kill. It raced over e